
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Shaun Carey, Chair 
Adam Kramer, Vice Chair 
Cortney Young, Treasurer 
Kitty Jung, Secretary 
Eddie Ableser, Trustee 
Mike Carrigan, Trustee 
Pascal Dupuis, Trustee  
Joel Grace, Trustee 
Brian Kulpin, Trustee 

PRESIDENT/CEO 
  Daren Griffin, A.A.E. 

CHIEF LEGAL COUNSEL 
Jenn Ewan 

BOARD CLERK 
Lori Corkery 

AGENDA 
Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 
Thursday, September 11, 2025 | 9:00 AM 

Reno-Tahoe International Airport, Reno, NV 
Administrative Offices, Second Floor  

Notice of Public Meeting  
Meetings are open to the public and notice is given pursuant to NRS 241.020. 

This meeting will be livestreamed and may be viewed by the public at the following link: 
Watch on Zoom:  https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82275583396  
Listen by Phone:  Dial 1-669-900-6833  
Webinar ID:         822 7558 3396 

Accommodations 
Members of the public who require special accommodations or assistance at the meeting are requested to notify 
the Clerk by email at lcorkery@renoairport.com or by phone at (775) 328-6402. Translated materials and 
translation services are available upon request at no charge.   

Public Comment 
Anyone wishing to make public comment may do by the one of the following methods: 
1) In person at the Board meeting
2) By emailing comments to lcorkery@renoairport.com by 4:00 p.m. on the day before the meeting.

Comments submitted will be given to the Board for review and included with the minutes of this meeting.
3) Virtually by Zoom.  You must have a computer or device with a working microphone.  Use the information

above to log into the Zoom meeting and use the “Chat” feature to submit a request to speak. When the
Chair calls for public comment, your microphone will be turned on and you will be addressed to speak.

Public comment is limited to three (3) minutes per person. No action may be taken on a matter raised under 
general public comment. 

Posting 
This agenda has been posted at the following locations: 
1. RTAA Admin Offices, 2001 E. Plumb
2. www.renoairport.com 3. https://notice.nv.gov/

Supporting Materials 
Supporting documentation for this agenda is available at www.renoairport.com, and will be available for 
review at the Board meeting.  Please contact the Board Clerk at lcorkery@renoairport.com, or (775) 328-6402 
for further information. 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-241.html
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82275583396
mailto:lcorkery@renoairport.com
mailto:lcorkery@renoairport.com
https://www.renoairport.com/airport-authority/public-meeting-information/agendas-minutes
https://notice.nv.gov/
https://www.renoairport.com/airport-authority/public-meeting-information/agendas-minutes
mailto:lcorkery@renoairport.com


 
RTAA Board of Trustees – September 11, 2025  Pg. 2 

1.  INTRODUCTORY ITEMS  
 
1.1  Pledge of Allegiance  
1.2  Roll Call  
 
2.  PUBLIC COMMENT   
 
3.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA (For Possible Action)   
 
4.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES   

 
4.1  August 14, 2025, Board of Trustees meeting 
 
5. PRESIDENT/CEO REPORT  
 
6.  BOARD MEMBER REPORTS AND UPDATES 
   
7.   RECOGNITIONS AND ITEMS OF SPECIAL INTEREST  
 
8.   CONSENT ITEMS (All consent items may be approved together with a single motion, be 

taken out of order, and/or be heard and discussed individually.) 
  
8.1  Board Memo No. 09/2025-47 (For Possible Action): Authorize the President/CEO to 

execute a Construction Contract with A&K Earthmovers, Inc. for the Blue Lot Expansion 
Project at Reno-Tahoe International Airport, accepting the Base Bid of $1,600,000 and 
including an Owner’s Contingency of $320,000, for a total not-to-exceed amount of 
$1,920,000, contingent upon approval by the Air National Guard and the Defense 
Intelligence Agency 

 Presenter:  Bryce Juzek, Project Manager II 
 
8.2  Board Memo No. 09/2025-48 (For Possible Action): Authorize the President/CEO to 

execute Amendment No. 4 to the agreement with TransSolutions, LLC, in the amount of 
$150,000, bringing the total contract value from $188,550 to $338,550, for the New Gen 
AB Gating Analysis: Terminal Phasing. This amendment will support the evaluation of 
airline schedule changes against the baseline study, identify necessary phasing adjustments 
for construction commencement, and conduct gating feasibility analyses aligned with the 
compressed phasing schedule.  

 Presenter:  Roddy Boggus, MoreRNO Program Manager  
 
9.  INFORMATION / POSSIBLE ACTION ITEMS  
 
9.1 Board Memo No. 09/2025-49 (For Possible Action): Authorize the President/CEO to 

execute a contract with NV Energy for the design and procurement of electrical equipment 
to establish a redundant power feed to the new Central Utility Plant at Reno-Tahoe 
International Airport, in an amount not to exceed $2,974,725 

 Presenter:  Gary Probert, Chief Planning & Infrastructure Officer  



 
RTAA Board of Trustees – September 11, 2025  Pg. 3 

 
9.2 Board Memo No. 09/2025-50 (For Possible Action): Authorize the President/CEO to 

execute a Professional Services Agreement with Engineered Artworks, led by artist Sean 
Orlando, for the design, fabrication, transportation, and installation of custom commissioned 
permanent artwork as part of the Loop Road Improvement Project at Reno-Tahoe 
International Airport (RNO), in an amount not to exceed $292,500 

 Presenters:  Annie Turner, Community Relations & Cultural Engagement Manager 
                             Holly Hayden, Public Art Consultant  
 
9.3 Board Memo No. 09/2025-51 (For Possible Action): Authorize the President/CEO to 

finalize terms and execute Change Order #2 to the HQ Project Construction Contract for 
GMP #3 (RTAA Headquarters Project at Reno-Tahoe International Airport) with 
Clark/Sullivan Construction, establishing a Guaranteed Maximum Price of $57,862,250 and 
increasing the total contract amount to $104,675,795 

 Presenter:  Bryce Juzek, Project Manager II 
 
9.4 Board Memo No. 09/2025-52 (For Possible Action): Authorize the President/CEO to 

execute a Professional Services Agreement with Construction Materials Engineering, Inc. 
for Construction Management Services related to the Headquarters Project at Reno-Tahoe 
International Airport, in the amount of $2,175,218 

 Presenter:  Bryce Juzek, Project Manager II 
 
9.5 Board Memo No. 09/2025-53 (For Possible Action): Authorize the President/CEO to 

execute Amendment No. 4 to the Professional Services Agreement with RS&H Nevada, 
Inc. for Construction Administration services related to the Headquarters Project at Reno-
Tahoe International Airport, in the amount of $1,999,061, increasing the total contract 
value from $7,386,378 to $9,385,439 

 Presenter:  Bryce Juzek, Project Manager II 
 
9.6  HQ conference room naming process and employee involvement  (Non-Action Item) 
 Presenter:  Natalie Brown, Chief Marketing & Public Affairs Officer 
 
9.7 Board Memo No. 09/2025-54 (For Possible Action): Authorize the President/CEO to 

execute the final two-year extension of the Professional Services Agreement with The 
Griffin Company for state lobbyist services in the amount of $144,000 

 Presenter:  Lindsay Anderson, Director of Government Affairs  
 
9.8 Board Memo No. 09/2025-55 (For Possible Action): Discussion and possible action to 

approve President/CEO Goals and Performance Measures for Fiscal Year 2025-2026  
 Presenter:  Emily Ellison, Chief People & Culture Officer 
 
/ / / 
 
/ / / 
 
 



 
RTAA Board of Trustees – September 11, 2025  Pg. 4 

 
10.  TRUSTEE COMMENTS AND REQUESTS  
 
11.  UPCOMING RTAA MEETINGS and EVENTS  
 

DATE MEETING  
10/07/25 Finance & Business Development Committee Meeting 

Planning & Construction Committee Meeting 
10/09/25 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 
10/03/25 HQ Groundbreaking Event  
10/22/25 GTC Groundbreaking Event  
11/11/25 
Date will 
change due 
to holiday 

Finance & Business Development Committee Meeting 
Planning & Construction Committee Meeting 

11/13/25 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 
12/09/25 Finance & Business Development Committee Meeting 

Planning & Construction Committee Meeting 
12/11/25 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 

 
12.  PUBLIC COMMENT  
 
13.  ADJOURNMENT  
 
  
 



BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Shaun Carey, Chair 
Adam Kramer, Vice Chair 
Cortney Young, Treasurer 
Kitty Jung, Secretary 
Eddie Ableser, Trustee 
Mike Carrigan, Trustee 
Pascal Dupuis, Trustee  
Joel Grace, Trustee 
Brian Kulpin, Trustee 
 

 

 

PRESIDENT/CEO 
  Daren Griffin, A.A.E. 

 
CHIEF LEGAL COUNSEL 

Jenn Ewan 
    

BOARD CLERK 
Lori Corkery 

 
MINUTES 

Board of Trustees Regular Meeting  
Thursday, August 14, 2025 | 9:00 AM 

Reno-Tahoe International Airport, Reno, NV 
Administrative Offices, Second Floor  

 
1.  INTRODUCTORY ITEMS  
 
Vice-Chair Kramer called to order at 9:00 a.m.  Art Sperber was invited to lead the Pledge.   
 
Trustees Present:  Eddie Ableser (Absent at time of Roll Call. Arrived at 9:05) 

Mike Carrigan 
Pascal Dupuis 
Joel Grace 
Kitty Jung 
Adam Kramer 
Brian Kulpin 
Cortney Young  

 
Trustees Absent:  Shaun Carey  
 
Vice-Chair Kramer requested a Motion to take the agenda out of order and postpone the Oath of 
Eddie Ableser until he arrives 
 
Moved by: Kitty Jung 
Seconded by: Cortney Young 
Aye: Trustees Carrigan, Dupuis, Grace, Jung, Kramer, Kulpin, Young  
Absent: Trustees Carey, Ableser  
Result: Passed 
 
3.  PUBLIC COMMENT   
 
There were no comments from the public.   
 
/ / / 
 
 



 
RTAA Board of Trustees – August 14, 2025  Pg. 2 

4.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA (For Possible Action)   
 
Motion: Motion to approve the agenda as presented  
Moved by: Pascal Dupuis 
Seconded by: Joel Grace 
Aye: Trustees Carrigan, Dupuis, Grace, Jung, Kramer, Kulpin, Young  
Absent: Trustees Carey, Ableser  
Result: Passed 
 
5.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES   

 
5.1  July 10, 2025, Board of Trustees meeting 
 
There being no corrections, the Minutes were approved as presented.   
 
6. PRESIDENT/CEO REPORT  
 
CEO Griffin delivered his monthly CEO report to the Board.   
 
2.   ADMINISTERING OF OATHS OF OFFICE BY WASHOE COUNTY CLERK 
 
2.1  Appointment of Eddie Ableser – City of Reno  
 
Jan Galassini, Washoe County Clerk, administered the Oath of the newly appointed Trustee, 
Eddie Ableser. 
 
7.  BOARD MEMBER REPORTS AND UPDATES 
  
There were no reports from the Trustees.   
  
8.   RECOGNITIONS AND ITEMS OF SPECIAL INTEREST  
 
8.1  Outgoing Trustee Recognition: Art Sperber    
 
CEO Griffin presented the recognition of outgoing Trustee, Art Sperber.   
 
9.   CONSENT ITEMS (All consent items may be approved together with a single motion, be 

taken out of order, and/or be heard and discussed individually.) 
  
None  
 
10.  INFORMATION / POSSIBLE ACTION ITEMS  
 
10.1  Board Memo No. 08/2025-44 (For Possible Action): Authorization of the President/CEO 

to award a Contract for the purchase of an EZ-Liner Model TSALC0500 Truck Mounted 



 
RTAA Board of Trustees – August 14, 2025  Pg. 3 

Striping Machine, with EZ-Liner, a Division of Vogel Traffic Services, Inc., in the amount 
of $730,207.00     

 
This item was presented by Chris Cobb, Facilities & Maintenance Director.  After discussion, the 
Board took the following action:  
 
Motion: Move to authorize the President/CEO to award a Contract for the purchase of a EZ-
Liner Model TSALC0500 Truck Mounted Striping Machine, with EZ-Liner a Division of Vogel 
Traffic Services, Inc., in the amount of $730,207.00, using cooperative contract pricing from 
Sourcewell’s Contract No. 080521-EZL 
Moved by: Joel Grace 
Seconded by: Brian Kulpin 
Aye: Trustees Ableser, Carrigan, Dupuis, Grace, Jung, Kramer, Kulpin, Young  
Absent: Trustee Carey 
Result: Passed 
 
10.2  Board Memo No. 08/2025-45 (For Possible Action): Authorization of the President/CEO 

to approve contracts for the purchase of computer server hardware, software and applicable 
licensing with multiple vendors in support of the upgrade to the virtual computing 
infrastructure in an amount not to exceed $904,608.00    

 
This item was presented by Art Rempp, Director of IT/Chief Information Officer .  After 
discussion, the Board took the following action:  
 
Motion: Move to authorize the President/CEO to approve contracts for the purchase of computer 
server hardware, software and applicable licensing with multiple vendors in support of the 
upgrade to the virtual computing infrastructure in an amount not to exceed $904,608.00 
Moved by: Joel Grace 
Seconded by: Brian Kulpin  
Aye: Trustees Ableser, Carrigan, Dupuis, Grace, Jung, Kramer, Kulpin, Young  
Absent: Trustee Carey 
Result: Passed 
 
10.3  Informational Item related to Memorandum of Understanding between the Reno-

Tahoe Airport Authority and DP RTA Stead, LLC with the purpose of capturing key 
business terms and conditions leading to the restructure of the Master Development 
Agreement and subsequent ground leases impacting land at the Reno-Stead Airport 
(Non-Action Item) 

 
Aurora Ritter, Director of Commercial Business, provided an overview of the non-binding 
Memorandum of Understanding with Dermody Properties to transition from our existing Master 
Development Agreement to a simpler structure and eventually a new definitive agreement.   
 
/ / / 
 
 



 
RTAA Board of Trustees – August 14, 2025  Pg. 4 

10.4  RNO Public Art Program update (Non-Action Item) 
 
Annie Turner, Community Relations & Cultural Engagement Manager, presented a public art 
update including the history of the public art program and future plans.   
 
10.5 Board Memo No. 08/2025-46 (For Possible Action): Review, discussion and potential 

approval of Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority Chairman’s Committee and Liaison 
Appointments for Fiscal Year 2025-2026   

 
Vice-Chair Kramer reviewed the Committee appointments and called for a motion to approve. 
 
Motion: Move to approve the Chairman’s Committee and liaison appointments for Fiscal Year 
2025-2026 
Moved by: Joel Grace 
Seconded by: Brian Kulpin  
Aye: Trustees Ableser, Carrigan, Dupuis, Grace, Jung, Kramer, Kulpin, Young  
Absent: Trustee Carey 
Result: Passed 
 
11.  TRUSTEE COMMENTS AND REQUESTS  
 
Trustee Carrigan requested that the names of presenters be added to the agendas.   
 
Trustee Kramer requested a presentation from General Waters and the National Guard about the 
relationship between them and the airport.   
 
Trustee Young requested an update on the status of the Gillemot Foundation which was 
presented to the Board in May of 2025.   
 
12.  UPCOMING RTAA MEETINGS  
 

DATE MEETING  
09/09/25 Finance & Business Development Committee Meeting 

Planning & Construction Committee Meeting 
09/11/25 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 
10/07/25 Finance & Business Development Committee Meeting 

Planning & Construction Committee Meeting 
10/09/25 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 
11/11/25 
Date will 
change due 
to holiday 

Finance & Business Development Committee Meeting 
Planning & Construction Committee Meeting 

11/13/25 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 
 
There was no discussion on this item. 
 
 



 
RTAA Board of Trustees – August 14, 2025  Pg. 5 

13.  PUBLIC COMMENT  
 
There were no comments from the public.   
 
14.  ADJOURNMENT  
 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:34 a.m.  
 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Kitty Jung, Secretary  
 



 
 
 

President/CEO Report 
To: All Board Members  
From: Daren Griffin, President/CEO  
Date:   September 2025  

  
AIR SERVICE DEVELOPMENT 
 
Airline Engagement & Meetings  
Staff conducted individual calls in August with Alaska Airlines, American Airlines, Delta Air Lines, 
Southwest Airlines, and United Airlines to review route performance and discuss future market 
opportunities. These ongoing conversations are essential to strengthening airline partnerships, aligning 
on network goals, and advancing RNO’s air service development objectives.  
 
Community Outreach 
Staff continued to strengthen regional engagement through a series of outreach efforts for the month of 
August. We hosted a webinar to share results from the 2025 Corporate Travel Survey, presenting key 
data and insights gathered from participants, along with an airport update that included an overview of 
the MoreRNO program. Additionally, staff participated in a corporate travel fair hosted by Ormat, a global 
geothermal company headquartered in Reno, alongside Delta Air Lines’ corporate sales team. The event 
was well attended and provided valuable insight into the company’s extensive business travel patterns. 
Staff also attended a tourism-focused event hosted by the Northern Nevada Development Authority 
(NNDA). Staff attended an RSCVA-hosted FAM tour event, focused on leisure sales, reinforcing our 
broader community and airline engagement initiative.  
 
July 2025 RNO Passengers  
RNO served 484,244 passengers in July 2025, an increase of 0.9% versus the same period last year. In 
July 2025, RNO was served by 11 airlines to 24 non-stop destinations. The total seat capacity increased 
0.5% and flights increased 1.6% when compared to July 2024. 
 

   
 
 



Page 2 of 8 
 

 
Alaska Airlines (AS) 

• AS announced that it will upgrade its non-stop once daily seasonal service from RNO to San 
Diego (SAN) to a year-round service beginning October 4, 2025. This flight will be upgraded 
again to a double daily service beginning October 26, 2025.  
 

Delta Air Lines (DL)  
• Seasonal non-stop service from RNO to Minneapolis (MSP) returned June 9 and continues 

through September 8.  
  

JetBlue (B6) 
Seasonal non-stop service from RNO to New York City (JFK) returned June 12 and continues 
through September 2. 

JSX Airlines (XE) 
• XE new seasonal non-stop service from RNO to Las Vegas (LAS) and Carlsbad (CLD) began June 

19, 2025, and goes till September 1, 2025. Both routes operate four times a week.  
 
Southwest (WN) 

• Seasonal non-stop service from RNO to Dallas-Love (DAL) returned June 7 and continues through 
September 28. 

• Seasonal non-stop service from RNO to Chicago-Midway (MDW) returned June 5 and continues 
through September 29.  
 

 



Page 3 of 8 
 

 

 
 
July 2025 RNO Cargo  
 
RNO handled 7,270,009 pounds of air cargo in July 2025, a decrease of 18.1% when compared to July 
2024.    
 



Page 4 of 8 
 

 

  
 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 
Properties 
 
Concessions 101 Sessions and Networking Event 
The RTAA hosted its first official Airport Concessions 101 virtual information session on August 12, 2025, 
as part of the outreach strategy to engage potential operators ahead of the planned 2026 release of Food 
& Beverage and Retail concessions RFPs. The session provided an overview of the concessions program, 
key elements of operating in an airport environment, and guidance on the public procurement process. 
60 participants attended, representing a range of local businesses, ACDBEs/DBEs, and industry operators. 
A second virtual session will be held on September 3, followed by an in-person networking event on 
September 10 to further connect interested businesses with RTAA representatives and prime 
concessionaires. 
 
Burner Express Bus 
RTAA staff worked with Burner Express Bus and Burning Man Project to find an area to operate this year 
despite the construction constraints. The ticket verification and will-call operation took place in the ticket 
counter annex by Door D. They queued primarily outside and in front of this area. Buses picked up on the 
inner terminal curb by Door C. This has been a great process without any issues. The returns will take 
place withing or adjacent to the Yellow Lot. The bike corral provided by Burning Man Project will be set 
up within the Yellow Lot and all bikes will be donated to the Reno Bike Project. 
 
New Aviation Support Facility 
The three tenants (Alaska Airlines, American Airlines and Textron) have relocated into the new aviation 
support building, located at 1335 Air Cargo Way. The Q&D/Webcor joint venture is working to finish 
punch list items, with an expected final completion of mid-September. Staff is marketing the unleased 
spaces to new and existing tenants in an effort to fully lease the building. 
 
American Airlines Customer Cup Celebration 
RTAA staff attended an event for local American Airlines (AA) staff, celebrating their recent Q2 win of the 
American Airlines Customer Cup. The Cup is awarded to the AA station that scores the best overall in 
several customer experience metrics. Several AA executives attended the event and presented the local 
AA team with a trophy. This marks the 4th time that the AA RNO station has won the prestigious 
Customer Cup. 
 
 
 



Page 5 of 8 
 

 
RTS Land Development 
 
Dermody Properties Master Development and Ground Leases Restructure 
Staff presented a fully executed non-binding MOU at the August Board Meeting that terminates the 
existing MDA in exchange for replacing it with a handful of leases for land on the west side of the airport 
that will be subject to development by Dermody Properties.  The result returns significant acreage on the 
north and east sides of the airport to RTAA control for future leasing/development opportunities.  The 
RTAA and Dermody Properties teams are negotiating the replacement agreements, and the goal is to 
present the key terms related to the replacement agreements for approval at the October Board Meeting.   
 
Dermody Properties Phase I Development  
The Dermody team advised that the major components of the first building have been completed. The 
NV Energy schedule for the power install has slipped and is expected to be completed by mid-September.  
Truckee Meadows Water Authority (TMWA) flow tests are occurring now with meter installations also 
done by mid-September.  Fog sealing and striping is complete with only the final clean remaining. Once 
NV Energy completes their work, the start-up testing (for fire line, HVAC, etc.) will be conducted to 
ensure all systems are operational. Staff continues to execute easements as necessary for utilities and 
telecommunications to feed the building and also running along Moya Blvd. Staff had been advised that 
the sign-off from the City of Reno is expected in August 2025, but the updated date is now September 
10, 2025. The perimeter fence installation still needs to occur but that will not prevent the sign-off from 
the City. The Dermody team has confirmed that there are no tenants identified, only speculative 
possibilities. The utility work along Moya Blvd and the railroad crossing are substantially complete. The 
Dermody Team is coordinating a walk with City of Reno Staff for sign off and that will allow Moya Blvd to 
be open to the public.   
 
Dermody Properties Phase II Development  
Our FAA ADO office determined that no further environmental process would be required for the 
buildings proposed on Phase II but did indicate that a Categorical Exclusion (CatEx) would be required for 
the portion of Moya Boulevard that will extend from Phase I to access Phase II. The Dermody team is 
now preparing the required documentation.  
 
OPERATIONS & PUBLIC SAFETY 
 

Department Event 07/2025 07/2024 07/2023 

Joint Actions Aircraft Alerts: ARFF, Ops, Police, Aircom 2 3 5 
 Medicals: ARFF, Ops, Police, Aircom 41 19 35 
Operations Inspections 111 129 94 
 Wildlife Incidents 9 6 1 
Police TSA Checkpoint Incidents 12 7 23 
 Case Numbers Requested 9 12 7 
Terminal Ops Alarm Responses 49 49 77 
 Inspections: Vehicle, Delivery, Employee  1191 928 1161 
Compliance Badge Actions 1598 868 792 
ARFF Inspections: Fuelers/Facilities 0/0 0/0 3/0 
Landside Public Parking – Total Revenue $1,922,680.43 $1,525,638 $1,470,341 
 Public Parking – Total Transactions  41,080 44,493 43,270 
 Public Parking – Average $ Per 

Transaction 
$46.80 $34.29 $33.98 

 Shuttle & Bus Trips Through GT 13,218 9,397 9,029 
 Transportation Network Company Trips 42,922 37,870 32,968 
 Taxi Trips Through GT 4,324 5,410 5,736 

 



Page 6 of 8 
 

 
PLANNING & INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
Airport Sustainability Advisory Committee 
The Airport Sustainability Advisory Committee (ASAC) will convene on Thursday, September 18 at 3:30 
PM for the third quarter meeting. Discussion items include North Valleys Surface Transportation Capacity 
Projects and Urban Heat Islands. 
  
RTAA Annual Environmental Inspections 
In August 2025, staff completed on-site inspections, associated with the RTAA’s Annual Assessment of 
Environmental Compliance, at Reno-Tahoe International Airport and Reno-Stead Airport. Inspections are 
opportunities to identify non-compliance issues and provide guidance to promote environmental and 
regulatory compliance. In addition to tenant facilities, staff also conducted inspections at RTAA Airfield 
Maintenance, Airport Rescue and Firefighting, Building and Maintenance, and Stead Airport facilities. 
Post-inspection letters detailing areas for improvement were sent in late August 2025. There were no 
major discrepancies. 
 
For more project updates, please refer to the Monthly Capital Improvement Project Status Reports which 
are posted with Planning & Construction Committee meetings agendas.  Click HERE to view those 
agendas.   
 
PEOPLE, CULTURE AND EQUITY 
 
Time frame: 08/01/25 – 08/31/25 
 
Open Positions 5 
New Starts 3 
Resignations/Terminations* 1 
Promotions 0 
*Termination refers to an employee leaving under 
any circumstances, good or bad.  

 
The Culture Club reserved a large block of seats at Greater Nevada Field and invited employees to attend 
a Friday night Aces game against the Albuquerque Isotopes. This is the third year hosting this popular 
event, and 70 tickets were given out on a first come/first served basis. 
 
A series of classes on RTAA’s compensation structure and philosophy were presented to CSP and 
Management employees. Delivered by People Operations staff, this class was designed to educate 
employees on the “art and science” of compensation and highlight the importance of having a specific 
program in order to pay employees appropriately.  
 
MARKETING & PUBLIC AFFAIRS 
 
Team Focus Areas 

The team prioritized keeping passengers informed during a stretch of high demand and unique 
challenges, including Burning Man traffic, weather and new construction for MoreRNO projects around 
the Loop Road. Alongside the colorful influx of Burning Man travelers, the airport showcased its new art 
gallery curated by the Arts at the Airport program, adding a creative highlight for visitors. Communication 
efforts emphasized parking guidance and alternative travel options across paid, earned and owned 
channels to help passengers plan ahead and reduce stress during peak periods. 

 

https://www.renoairport.com/airport-authority/public-meetings/


Page 7 of 8 
 

 
Top Strategic Initiatives  

Initiative RTAA Strategic 
Priority Outcome 

Air Service 
Marketing 

• Air Service and 
Cargo 

• Customer 
Experience 

• In paid search, impressions remained above campaign goals and 
rising search demand around terms like “direct flights from reno” 
and “flights to Chicago” reflects growing consumer interest and 
aided in keeping impressions above the goal. 

• The 30-second video drove the highest CTR at 4%, underscoring 
that video placements continue to resonate with our audience and 
generate strong engagement. 

Parking Campaign Customer 
Experience 

• User behavior shifted toward more availability-specific searches, 
with “reno airport parking availability” generating 2.3K impressions 
(+109%). This signals that messaging around parking changes is 
resonating and users are finding this information directly on the 
website.  

• CTR continues to perform at a stellar 35%, far exceeding the goal 
and reflecting a highly intent driven audience. The keyword “parking 
at reno tahoe airport” led with an exceptional 56% CTR, reinforcing 
the effectiveness of aligning targeting with user-specific needs. 

Burning Man  • Customer 
Experience 
• Safety & 
Security 

• Delivered a unified communications approach around Burning Man 
activities, combining a press release, social media content, airport 
signage and internal messaging to keep travelers and employees 
informed of impacts and travel tips.  

• The effort also highlighted the airport’s Burning Man art exhibit, 
Tiny Titans: The Power of the Maquette, and a special RSCVA live 
music performance, blending community spirit with essential travel 
information to support a smooth experience during one of RNO’s 
busiest periods. 

 

Other Noteworthy Items  

• On display in the depARTures Gallery through Nov. 2 is a Burning Man exhibition, Tiny Titans: 
The Power of the Maquette, offering an intimate look into the creative visions of two Burning 
Man artists through the presentation of maquettes – scaled models that preview the ambitious, 
grand installations planned for the Playa. Learn more about featured artists Mark Rivera and 
Turburam Sandagdorj and this one-of-a-kind exhibition at renoairport.com/arts/exhibitions/. 

    

 



Page 8 of 8 
 

 
• Congressman Amodei convened a meeting with TSA and RTAA executives to discuss the baggage 

handling system and how we can optimize the current equipment to minimize downtime and 
increase operation efficiency. 

• Staff visited Doral Academy to discuss opportunities for future partnerships to support their 
students with interest in aviation and aeronautics. 

• Staff participated in a regional crisis preparedness tabletop exercise with a focus on an aircraft 
incident, building stronger partnerships with regional agencies and sharpening crisis 
communication skills. 

 

 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  09/2025-47 

 
Date:    September 11, 2025  
 
Subject: Authorize the President/CEO to execute a Construction Contract with A&K 

Earthmovers, Inc. for the Blue Lot Expansion Project at Reno-Tahoe International 
Airport, accepting the Base Bid of $1,600,000 and including an Owner’s Contingency 
of $320,000, for a total not-to-exceed amount of $1,920,000, contingent upon approval 
by the Air National Guard and the Defense Intelligence Agency 

 
Presenter:  Bryce Juzek, P.E., Airport Project Manager II 
 
  
 
BACKGROUND 
The Blue Lot Expansion Project, previously referred to and advertised for bid as the High Roller 
Lot, is located on the west side of Reno-Tahoe International Airport (RNO) within the Nevada Air 
National Guard (NANG) leasehold. The project site encompasses approximately 1.60 acres and is 
currently used by the NANG as a munitions storage area. The site is bounded by the existing Blue 
Lot to the north, the NANG base to the east and south, and Aviation Boulevard to the west. 
 
The potential conversion of this munitions storage area into a shared parking facility has been 
discussed previously with the Nevada Air National Guard. With ongoing airport construction 
reducing available parking and overall demand continuing to increase, these discussions have been 
renewed. As part of the project, the NANG’s munitions storage will be relocated to a temporary 
location elsewhere on their base. The proposed arrangement would provide additional parking 
capacity for airport users while accommodating the NANG’s parking needs during drill weekends, 
allowing for an efficient and mutually beneficial use of the site. 
 
In mid-June, the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) executed a design contract with Wood 
Rodgers to provide an accelerated design for the Blue Lot Expansion Project (High Roller Lot), 
with the goal of presenting a construction contract for Board approval at the September board 
meeting. During the design phase, RTAA staff coordinated closely with NANG personnel to 
ensure that the project meets all operational and security requirements. This coordination included 
site access, parking allocation, relocation of munitions storage, and other security measures to 
maintain the safety and operational readiness of the NANG base while allowing the project to 
proceed. 
 
DISCUSSION 
The Blue Lot Expansion Project includes the construction of a new paved parking lot providing 
approximately 190 additional spaces, along with associated site improvements such as stormwater 
drainage, electrical infrastructure, perimeter fencing, and landscaping. The scope also 
encompasses the relocation of the NANG munition storage to a secure temporary location on their 



 
Page 2 of 3 

 
 
base, allowing the new parking lot to occupy the site without impacting the NANG’s mission. The 
project is designed to address the airport’s growing parking demand while also accommodating 
the NANG’s increased parking needs during drill weekends. 
 
The project was publicly advertised on August 7, 2025, through the Reno Gazette Journal (RGJ), 
the RTAA website, and the Nevada Government eMarketplace (NGEM). A non-mandatory pre-
bid meeting was held on August 13, 2025, and the bid opening occurred on August 28, 2025, with 
five bids received. A summary of the bidders and their total base bid amounts is provided in Table 
1 – Bid Tabulation. 
 

Table 1 – Bid Tabulation 

Scope Engineer's 
Estimate 

A&K 
Earthmovers 

FW 
Carson 

Granite 
Construction 

Q&D 
Construction 

Sierra 
Nevada 

Construction  

Base Bid   $2,056,147.60 $1,600,000 $2,199,418 $2,132,132 $2,893,333 $2,017,007 

   
The low, responsive, and responsible bidder is A&K Earthmovers, Inc., with a bid amount of 
$1,600,000.  RTAA staff reviewed all bids for compliance with the bid requirements and 
recommends awarding the construction contract to A&K Earthmovers, Inc. 
 
The total project duration is sixty (60) calendar days. The Notice to Proceed will be issued 
following final approvals from the Nevada Air National Guard and the Defense Intelligence 
Agency. The preliminary schedule provides for issuing the Notice to Proceed on September 22, 
2025, with construction of the parking lot completed in November 2025. The estimated schedule 
is summarized in Table 2 – Preliminary Schedule. 

 
Table 2 – Preliminary Schedule 

 
Activity Date 

Board Approval September 11, 2025 
Notice to Proceed September 22, 2025 

Construction September 22 – November 21, 2025 
Notice of Completion November 21, 2025 

 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The costs associated with the Blue Lot Expansion Project—including the construction contract 
with A&K Earthmovers, construction management services (CME), contract administration 
(Wood Rodgers), and the Owner’s Contingency—will be funded through the Reno-Tahoe Airport 
Authority (RTAA) Capital Improvement Program for Fiscal Year 2025–26. 
 
The overall anticipated budget for the Blue Lot Expansion Project, encompassing all construction, 
project management, contract administration, and Owner’s Contingency, is estimated at 
$2,130,000. A detailed breakdown is provided below in Table 4 – Project Estimate at Completion. 
 



 
Page 3 of 3 

 
 

 Table 4 – Project Estimate at Completion  
Contract 

Administration 
(Wood Rodgers)  

Construction 
Management  

(CME)  

    Construction  
  (A&K 

Earthmovers)  

Other Direct 
Costs 

Owner’s 
Contingency  

Estimate At 
Completion  

$50,000* $110,000* $1,600,000  $50,000 $320,000  $2,130,000  
 
*Amounts shown for Construction Management (CM) and Contract Administration (CA) 
represent current estimates and may be adjusted as final costs are determined. 
  
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
People 
Facilities for the Future  
 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION 
Planning and Construction Committee 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute a Construction Contract with A&K Earthmovers, 
Inc. for the Blue Lot Expansion Project at Reno-Tahoe International Airport, accepting the Base 
Bid of $1,600,000 and including an Owner’s Contingency of $320,000, for a total not-to-exceed 
amount of $1,920,000, pending project approval by the Nevada Air National Guard and the 
Defense Intelligence Agency.” 
 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  09/2025-48 

 
Date:  September 11, 2025 
 
Subject:  Authorize the President/CEO to execute Amendment No. 4 to the agreement with 

TransSolutions, LLC, in the amount of $150,000, bringing the total contract value from 
$188,550 to $338,550, for the New Gen AB Gating Analysis: Terminal Phasing. This 
amendment will support the evaluation of airline schedule changes against the baseline 
study, identify necessary phasing adjustments for construction commencement, and 
conduct gating feasibility analyses aligned with the compressed phasing schedule. 

 
Presenter:   Roddy Boggus, MoreRNO Program Manager  
 
  

BACKGROUND 
In fall 2024, TransSolutions LLC conducted gating analyses for major construction phases to 
validate feasibility under a compressed schedule, with additional updates provided in 2025. As the 
project transitions from planning to execution, airline schedule changes are anticipated and were 
not fully predictable during earlier planning efforts. 
 
Short-duration micro-phases and transitions between major phases may require targeted gating 
feasibility checks to ensure safe operations, maintain peak gate capacity, and minimize disruption. 
This amendment provides on-call support to the MoreRNO program throughout the construction 
period to evaluate evolving airline schedules, identify necessary phasing adjustments, and perform 
gating feasibility assessments, including ramp simulations and animations as needed, enabling 
RTAA to proactively manage operational risk while executing the compressed phasing plan. 
 
DISCUSSION 
Amendment No. 4 transitions the gating effort from a one-time feasibility check to an on-call 
service during construction to manage evolving airline schedules, micro-phases, and any phasing 
modifications necessary to support the compressed New Gen A&B phasing plan. TransSolutions 
will provide gating analyses, document and report findings, attend meetings to present results, and 
coordinate with the MoreRNO team and stakeholders. All tasks will be performed only at the 
direction of RTAA/MoreRNO.  The Scope of Services include: 
 

• Leveraging the base gating model (2024–2025) to analyze solutions for: 
o Current airline schedules. 
o New or forecast schedules over the construction period, which may include new 

carriers, markets, flight segments, time adjustments, and/or aircraft up/down-
gauging. 

o Modified construction phasing plans. 
o Micro-phases or “elbow” phases between major construction closures. 



 
Page 2 of 4 

 
 

• Developing new gating solutions to maintain safe operations and peak gate capacity as 
conditions change. 

• Analyzing/reviewing aircraft parking layouts using a tool such as AviPLAN (or its 
equivalent) to validate stand clearances, pushback/engine-start envelopes, and towing 
paths. 

• Producing ramp animations (aircraft and, as applicable, GSE) to assess congestion and 
circulation, including repositioning between contact gates, walk-out gates, and RON 
parking. 
 

These services will support timely airline coordination, reduce operational risk during phase 
transitions, and help ensure that gate availability and ramp circulation remain feasible while 
executing the compressed construction schedule. Findings and recommendations will be provided 
in written memoranda and meeting presentations, enabling RTAA to make informed, documented 
decisions throughout the construction period. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
To date, the gating and phasing study has saved approximately $30 million in hard construction 
costs for the New Gen A&B Project. This amendment is intended to maintain those expected 
savings by providing on-call gating analyses and related support during construction to manage 
schedule changes, micro-phases, and phasing modifications. 
 
In August of 2024, a Professional Services Agreement (PSA) was executed with TransSolutions 
in the amount of $33,050.  The scope of work included creating a proposed schedule of how the 
RNO airlines might grow their services, including adding an additional airline between August of 
2024 and 2030. 
 
In November of 2024, Amendment #1 to the PSA with TransSolutions was executed in the amount 
of $155,500 to provide gating analyses to allow phased construction to happen while ensuring 
compliance with the requirements of the Airport Use and Lease Agreement (AULA).  This brought 
their total contract to $188,550. 
 
In February of 2025, Amendment #2 to the PSA with TransSolutions was executed as a zero-dollar 
change only extending the contract completion date to April of 2025. 
 
In April of 2025, Amendment #3 to the PSA with TransSolutions was executed, again, as a zero-
dollar change extending the contract completion date through June of 2025. 
 
Amendment No. 4 in the amount of $150,000 increases the PSA with TransSolutions LLC from 
$188,550 to $338,550. Funding exists within the approved soft-cost budget for the New Gen A&B 
Project and no additional appropriation is requested. The savings estimate is subject to refinement 
as market pricing and schedules evolve. The requested scope is specifically aimed at preserving 
these savings through timely operational and phasing validations. 
 
/ / / 
 
 
 



 
Page 3 of 4 

 
 

Table 1 – Updated Contract Amount Summary 
Description  Cost  Funding Source  
Base Contract  $33,050 AMT Bonds 
Amendment #1  $155,500 AMT Bonds 
Amendment #2  $0.00 AMT Bonds 
Amendment #3  $0.00 AMT Bonds 
Amendment #4 – Additional Gating 
Analyses during construction $150,000 AMT Bonds 

Total  $338,550   
 

Table 2 – Updated New Gen A&B Estimate at Completion 
Category  Description  Cost  

Soft Costs  -  $148,560,070 

A/E Design    Gensler Architecture Design & Planning  $46,884,417  

Pre-Construction Services   Holder Q&D, a Joint Venture  $2,000,000  

Pre-Construction Services   McCarthy Building Companies, Inc.   $2,463,000  

Pre-Construction Services  Clark/Sullivan Construction $49,500 

Construction Admin (Estimate)  Gensler Architecture Design & Planning  $14,401,356  
Construction Management 
(Estimate)  Construction Materials Engineering  $15,806,037  

PMO / All Other  Misc. $39,018,542 

Owner’s Contingency  TBD/Misc.  $27,936,918  

Hard Costs  -  $501,489,730  
Central Utility Plant (CUP) – 
Long Lead Equipment  ACCO & Cupertino  $11,702,346  

S. RON Apron Expansion  Q&D Construction  $8,634,000  

Concourse Enabling Packages  Q&D Construction  $672,868  
Concourse – Long Lead 
Equipment  Nelson Electric  $6,212,400  

Concourse Common Use 
Enabling  Q&D Construction  $831,264  

Central Utility Plant (CUP)  Clark/Sullivan  $45,462,276  

New Gen A&B – (Estimate)  McCarthy Building Companies, Inc.  $427,974,576  

Total Estimate at Completion  -  $650,000,000  
 
 
 
 



 
Page 4 of 4 

 
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Safety and Security 
Facilities for the Future  
Air Service and Cargo 
Financial Stewardship 
Customer Experience 
Sustainability 
 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION 
Planning and Construction Committee 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute Amendment No. 4 to the agreement with 
TransSolutions, LLC, in the amount of $150,000, bringing the total contract value from $188,550 
to $338,550, for the New Gen AB Gating Analysis: Terminal Phasing. This amendment will 
support the evaluation of airline schedule changes against the baseline study, identify necessary 
phasing adjustments for construction commencement, and conduct gating feasibility analyses 
aligned with the compressed phasing schedule.” 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  09/2025-49 

 
Date:    September 11, 2025 
 
Subject:  Authorize the President/CEO to execute a contract with NV Energy for the design and 

procurement of electrical equipment to establish a redundant power feed to the new 
Central Utility Plant at Reno-Tahoe International Airport, in an amount not to exceed 
$2,974,725 

 
Presenter: Gary Probert, Chief of Planning & Infrastructure 
 
  

BACKGROUND 
The Reno-Tahoe International Airport (RNO) is currently fed from a single NV Energy substation. 
If the substation has a disruption or power failure, the airport terminal, concourses, parking garage 
and other buildings lose power and require electric generator backup to continue to operate. The 
multiple generators are unable to provide 100% power backup to all systems. The generators only 
provide power to the most critical systems to keep the airport operational. These systems include 
life-safety (elevators, escalators, etc.), minimally required lighting, airline check-in counters and 
gates, passenger boarding bridges, baggage systems, alarms, door access controls, and minimal 
other systems in offices and tenant spaces throughout the buildings.  
 
The purpose of this request is to initiate the design and procurement process by NV Energy and 
the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) for a secondary power source from an alternate 
substation, providing redundant electrical service to the airport and enhancing the overall 
reliability of its power infrastructure.  
  
DISCUSSION 
Providing a redundant power source to the airport is extremely important to keep the airport 
running efficiently. Any delays caused by a power outage not only affect the passengers, tenants 
and staff at RNO, but can cause an aviation wide system domino effect if aircraft are delayed, both 
arriving and departing. This work is not part of the MoreRNO program; however, the construction 
timeline ties in very well with the completion of the New Gen A&B project.  
 
The new Central Utility Plant (CUP) has been designed to accommodate a redundant power feed, 
reducing reliance on backup generators. However, backup generators will still be included in the 
CUP to ensure protection for the airport in the event of a major outage impacting multiple 
substations.  
 
The timing to begin the design and procurement of the long lead equipment is critical. The RTAA 
and its consultants have had multiple meetings with NV Energy discussing the RTAA’s concerns, 
requirements and construction schedules. NV Energy’s existing distribution infrastructure, from 



 
Page 2 of 3 

 
 
the proposed Glendale Substation to the new point of entry at the airport, currently has sufficient 
line capacity to support the 9.2 Mega Volt Amps (MVA) dedicated service. However, the power 
source itself must be upgraded to meet this demand. The RTAA needs to reserve the available 
electrical capacity within the existing distribution infrastructure. Executing this contract and 
providing the down payment must be made immediately, prior to other projects taking the excess 
capacity. Execution of the contract will reserve the existing excess distribution capacity and keep 
us from having to build new infrastructure from the Glendale Substation to the airport.  
 
Modifications to the Glendale Substation is required to provide the redundant electrical service. 
This requires procurement of a long-lead transformer and other required equipment. The 
procurement timeframe for the transformer is roughly three years.  
 
The redundant power source will match the existing power source (9.2 MVA) and will only 
provide backup if the existing source is interrupted. The redundant power source will not provide 
additional power to the airport. NV Energy will design, procure, construct, own and maintain the 
substation and the distribution infrastructure. 
 
The schedule for the payments is as follows: 
Initial Payment  $2,974,725  September 2025 
Second Payment  $778,005  October 12, 2027 
Third Payment  $823,770  October 12, 2028 
 
The schedule for work is as follows: 
Project Coordination (kickoff) Meeting December 1, 2025 
Construction Start    January 16, 2029 
Major Material Delivery   March 13, 2029 
Project Completion (In-Service)  September 1, 2029  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The initial payment of $2,974,275 represents the first of three installments, with total project costs 
over the next three years estimated at $4,576,500. This expenditure was not included in the 
approved FY2025–26 capital budget. Funding will be provided through General Purpose Airport 
Cash and incorporated into the Mid-Year budget adjustment.   
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Safety and Security 
People 
Facilities for the Future  
Air Service and Cargo 
Financial Stewardship 
Customer Experience 
General Aviation 
Sustainability 
 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION 
Planning and Construction Committee 
 



 
Page 3 of 3 

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute a contract with NV Energy, in the amount of 
$2,974,725, for the design and procurement of electrical equipment to support a redundant power 
feed to the new Central Utility Plant at Reno-Tahoe International Airport.”  
  



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  09/2025-50 

 
Date:  September 11, 2025  
 
Subject:  Authorize the President/CEO to execute a Professional Services Agreement with 

Engineered Artworks, led by artist Sean Orlando, for the design, fabrication, 
transportation, and installation of custom commissioned permanent artwork as part of 
the Loop Road Improvement Project at Reno-Tahoe International Airport (RNO), in an 
amount not to exceed $292,500 

 
Presenter:  Annie Turner, Community Relations & Cultural Engagement Manager  
 
  

BACKGROUND 
In 2004, the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) passed an Airport Art Plan that set into motion 
a means of celebrating the region’s cultural heritage and offering an artistic experience to 
passengers, guests, tenants, and employees. The Connector Collections Gallery at RNO was 
established a year later as a rotating exhibit venue with high visibility. In 2013, it transitioned in 
name and location to the depARTures Gallery and continues to feature quarterly rotating 
exhibitions of all art forms from local and regional organizations and artist collectives. An annual 
Employee Art Show, sponsored by the National Arts Program, and a Burning Man-themed exhibit 
that aligns with the popular annual event are also featured in the Gallery. In addition, RNO hosts 
performing artists throughout the year and is the proud home of loaned Douglas Van Howd 
sculptures. 
 
The Reno-Stead Airport (RTS) displays a collection of unique art, including a museum-quality 
exhibit highlighting the airport’s history as a WWII airbase, a donated Cassutt SLD 1A racing 
aircraft named Gold Dust, and 59 official posters beginning in 1964, which honors each year of 
the National Championship Air Races. 
 
On September 9, 2021, a pledge was made for a dynamic, robust, innovative, and interactive public 
art experience when the Board of Trustees passed Resolution No. 552 establishing a policy calling 
for a strong art presence that is integrated into the airport architecture, interior, grounds, and travel 
experience. It takes a bold vision to act on behalf of the airports’ long-term future, and as we 
continue to grow, so does the opportunity to establish a dynamic art program that creates 
memorable experiences for millions of people each year. 
 
Resolution No. 552 pledges a minimum of one percent (1%) of design and construction costs for 
capital improvement projects in public spaces for art at RNO and RTS. These projects are to be 
completed in partnership with the RTAA’s Art Advisory Committee whose expertise in the 
recruitment, selection, acquisition, installation, and maintenance of permanent artworks will 
support the strategic direction of the airport art program. 



 
Page 2 of 5 

 
 
For projects whose funding does not meet the 1% guidelines established by Resolution No. 552, 
the Board of Trustees approved on January 9, 2025, the creation of a Public Art Fund providing a 
mechanism to pool funds from capital improvement projects over time to support the purchase and 
maintenance of public art throughout the campus. 

DISCUSSION 
The completion of the Loop Road Improvement Project upgrades in September 2024, and the 
implementation of the Public Art Fund in January 2025, was the perfect opportunity to include a 
budget for permanent public art within the Loop Road.  
 
With the assistance of the RTAA Project Team, staff, Public Art Consultant, and the Art Advisory 
Committee, two location options were ultimately selected for the Loop Road Call for Artists RFQ: 
(4) garage stairwell atriums or (5) canopies. In their Letter of Interest and RFP’s, applicants chose 
the location for proposed artwork. 
 
The overall process included an open RFQ call for artists that combined current procurement rules 
through NGEM, in conjunction with the national art application intake platform, CallforEntry.org. 
 
The RFQ was promoted through a comprehensive marketing and communications plan that 
included email newsletters, website engagement, social media videos, and various local and 
national artists and arts organizations channels, capturing thousands of impressions. 
 
An online informational session (RFQ pre-submittal meeting) for artists was held live via Zoom 
and recorded for viewing on RNO’s Arts at the Airport website page, to review the application 
process, teach artists about the project, and capture live Q&A. More information can be found at 
https://www.renoairport.com/arts/art-solicitations/ 
 
Following RTAA procurement guidelines and national public art best practices, applications were 
reviewed and narrowed down via judging criteria set forth in the RFQ. The Selection Panel was 
comprised of RTAA Art Advisory Committee members who represent the local arts community. 
Panelists reviewed applications, selected three semi-finalists for the RFP process, watched 
proposals and artist presentations, and ultimately selected a finalist.  
 
The RTAA Art Advisory Committee members are: 
 
   Christina Barr, Nevada Humanities 
* Megan Berner, City of Reno Arts & Culture 
* Bryce Chisholm, ABCArtAttack 
   Bethany Drysdale, Washoe County 
   Alisha Funkhouser, Holland Project 
   Stephanie Gibson, UNR John and Geraldine Lilley Museum of Art 
* Shanda Golden, City of Sparks Arts & Culture 
   Tony Manfredi, Nevada Arts Council 
   Beverly Mobley, Stewart Indian School 
* Crimson Rose, Burning Man Arts 
   Dennyse Sewell, Pioneer Center for the Performing Arts 
* Jerry Snyder, The Generator 

http://callforentry.org/
https://www.renoairport.com/arts/art-solicitations/


 
Page 3 of 5 

 
 
   David Walker, Nevada Museum of Art 
* Maggie McGrew, RTAA Staff Liaison 
* Jennifer Cunningham, Former RTAA Trustee 
Note: * indicates a Loop Road Selection Panel Juror 
 
RFQ/RFP PROCESS TIMELINE 
Q4 2024: Loop Road locations visioning and planning 
December 18, 2024: Project Team meeting – Loop Road location & budget presentation 
December 2024- January 2025: Draft Loop Road RFQ w/ procurement assistance 
January 14, 2025: Loop Road location/budget presentation to RTAA Executive Team, approved  
January 28, 2025: Art Advisory Committee meeting, Loop Road final locations and RFQ draft 
February 25, 2025: Call for Artists Loop Road RFQ OPEN on NGEM and CallforEntry 
March 12, 2025: RFQ Pre-Submittal meeting (Zoom) 
April 7, 2025: Call for Artists Loop Road RFQ CLOSED on NGEM and CallforEntry 
April 9, 17, 23, 2025:  CallforEntry judging “how-to” info session: Project Team & AAC jurors 
April 2025: Seven AAC jurors review RFQ applications 
April 28, 2025: AAC jurors regroup for semi-finalists scores and selection 
May 15, 2025: Pre-submittal meeting for 3 RFP semi-finalists – (blind webinar Zoom) 
June 23, 2025: Three RFP semi-finalist artists presentations to Selection Panel (Zoom) 
July 28, 2025: Art Advisory Committee meeting – share Loop Road finalist 
August 5, 2025: RTAA Executive Team presentation – share Loop Road finalist  
September 11, 2025: RTAA Board meeting – recommend Loop Road finalist for approval 
 
ESTIMATED LOOP ROAD ARTWORK TIMELINE 
September 11, 2025 RTAA Board Meeting / Approval 
September 2025 Contract Signing & Site Visit #1 
September - October 2025 Finalist’s Artwork Revisions 

October 2025 Concept Design Approval & Design Engineering Finalized,  
Materials Acquisition Begins 

November 2025 Fabrication Begins 
December 2025 - January 
2026 Site Visit #2 

February/March 2026 Halfway Point & Optional Studio Visit 

June - July 2026 Fabrication & Finishing Concludes, Installation Site Planning 
& Transport 

Q3 2026 Final Installation  
 
ARTIST BACKGROUND 
Engineered Artworks was founded by Sean Orlando, a nationally recognized sculptor and public 
artist. The studio and fabrication shop, based in Richmond, California, blends imagination and 
precision in the creation of bold, meaningful works. Sean’s practice explores the intersection of 
science, engineering, and art. His artwork invites audiences to pause, look closer, and find wonder 
in the built environment, whether highlighting the hidden beauty of infrastructure or crafting 
kinetic, whimsical artworks. 



 
Page 4 of 5 

 
 
 
Sean leads a multidisciplinary team of fabricators and technologists dedicated to supporting artists 
and delivering site-specific, technically ambitious public art. The studio has become a trusted 
partner for artists who need deep fabrication support, including architectural integrations, kinetic 
motion systems, and custom lighting. 
 
Engineered Artworks custom work can be found across the U.S. in civic plazas, airports, science 
museums, sculpture parks, and major art festivals, using a collaborative, artist-first approach and 
the ability to scale visionary ideas into lasting, transformative work. 
 
As Creative Director, Sean brings a unique dual perspective as both exhibiting artist and expert 
fabricator. His work has been featured at the Smithsonian American Art Museum, the Oakland 
Museum of California, the de Young Museum, Burning Man, and the Indianapolis 500. He is a 
founding member of the Five Ton Crane Arts Group and has led major monumental and immersive 
sculpture commissions for the Port of San Francisco, City of Denver, Tacoma Sound Transit, the 
City of Norfolk, and the Kiewit Luminarium in Omaha, NE, with permanent installations in public 
spaces in Seattle, Los Angeles, Long Beach and Austin. 
 
Artist statement: 
“My practice is the creation of collaborative, site-specific public sculpture that engages with its 
surroundings and evokes a sense of wonder and community. My work explores the intersection of 
art and architecture in the contemporary city and often incorporates immersive spaces, 
illumination, and interactive components.” 
 
The following are some key themes from the artist: 

• Playfulness and Imagination: My works strive to inspire joy and creativity in viewers, 
incorporating playful elements and encouraging interaction, inviting people to engage with 
the art as individuals and communities. 

• Innovation and Technology: An exploration of the possibilities of new technologies in 
the creation of art. Many of my projects incorporate innovative fabrication techniques and 
design technologies. 

• Community Engagement: I strive to involve local communities in the development of my 
works, ensuring artwork that reflects the distinctive culture of each location. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
This public art commission falls within the guidelines of Resolution No. 552 and the establishment 
of the Public Art Fund. Total cost of this public art commission will not exceed $292,500. 
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Customer Experience 
 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION 
None 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 



 
Page 5 of 5 

 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute a Professional Services Agreement with 
Engineered Artworks, led by artist Sean Orlando, for the design, fabrication, transportation, and 
installation of custom commissioned permanent artwork as part of the Loop Road Improvement 
Project at Reno-Tahoe International Airport, in an amount not to exceed $292,500.” 
 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  09/2025-51 

 
Date:  September 11, 2025 
 
Subject:  Authorize the President/CEO to finalize terms and execute Change Order #2 to the HQ 

Project Construction Contract for GMP #3 (RTAA Headquarters Project at Reno-
Tahoe International Airport) with Clark/Sullivan Construction, establishing a 
Guaranteed Maximum Price of $57,862,250 and increasing the total contract amount 
to $104,675,795 

 
Presenter:  Roddy Boggus, MoreRNO Program Manager  
 
  

BACKGROUND 
The intent of The HQ project is to provide a multi-use facility to house Airport Police and Airport 
Administrative Offices. Airport Police presently occupy the lower level of Concourse B, which 
will be demolished when the new Concourse A is completed. The airport Administrative Offices 
presently occupy the second floor of the main terminal. The HQ Project brings all administrative 
and police functions into a single facility purposely designed for the specific functions, providing 
for better collaboration, efficient use of shared common spaces, better police response time to 
landside and airside, without ramp aircraft hindering vehicle movements, and is intended to 
accommodate a 20-year employment growth/expansion capability. The present administration and 
police spaces do not have any expansion ability and have extremely limited collaborative spaces.   
   
In May 2023 a two-phase RTAA Administration Workspace Study was completed with the goal 
of identifying an RTAA staff-preferred and Board of Trustees-supported alternative for design.   
  
After receiving their notice to proceed in November 2023, the Architect, RS&H Nevada, Inc. 
(RS&H) began validating the Basis of Design Report by interviewing departments and revising 
20-year staffing and space requirements. Updates included integration with the future Central 
Utility Plant as constructed within the scope of the New Gen Project.    
   
In January 2024, a Professional Services Agreement (PSA) with Clark/Sullivan Construction 
(Clark/Sullivan) to perform Preconstruction Services as the Construction Manager at Risk 
(CMAR) for the HQ project was authorized by the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) Board 
of Trustees.  
 
In January 2025, a Construction Contract with Clark/Sullivan was authorized by the RTAA Board 
of Trustees.  The contract scope included the Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) #1 - RTAA HQ 
Early Procurement Equipment Package, as a part of the HQ Project at the Reno-Tahoe 
International Airport. 
 



 
Page 2 of 5 

 
 
In June 2025, Change Order #1 to the HQ Project Construction Contract for GMP #2 - Central 
Utility Plant was approved. The Central Utility Plant (CUP) Project is a new approximately 11,500 
square foot central plant that will serve the New Gen A & B concourses and the HQ. The project 
includes a new mechanical system to deliver chilled water and hot water to condition the new 
facilities and a new electrical service to power them.  
  
DISCUSSION 
Over the past twenty (20) months, Clark/Sullivan has worked in close collaboration with RS&H 
on schedule development, phasing, constructability reviews, cost estimating, and value analysis 
for the HQ Project. With the delivery of the Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) #3 package, the 
project is now transitioning from design into construction. 
 
On June 19, 2025, Clark/Sullivan issued an invitation for contractors to prequalify for bidding. Bid 
documents were provided to the prequalified firms on July 7, 2025. Sealed bids were received on 
July 25, 2025, and opened on July 28, 2025, at the Clark/Sullivan offices with RTAA staff in 
attendance. The bidding process was conducted in full compliance with Nevada Revised Statutes 
(NRS) 338, including bidder prequalification and owner participation at bid openings. 
 
This final GMP encompasses the remainder of the construction contract as well as Clark/Sullivan’s 
General Conditions for the management and coordination of long-lead equipment. GMP #3 
received significant market participation, with more than seventy (70) subcontractors submitting 
bids. 
 
The Notice to Proceed is expected to be issued on September 22, 2025, with construction 
commencing immediately thereafter. The breakdown of the GMP #3 schedule is provided in Table 
1 – HQ Preliminary Schedule. 
  

Table 1 – HQ Preliminary Schedule 

Activity Date 
Board Approval September 11, 2025 

Notice to Proceed September 22, 2025 
Long Lead Equipment Delivery GMP#1 June 26, 2026 

 Project Completion  July 12, 2027 
 

As part of the bidding process, several bid alternates were identified and separated from the base 
scope of work. Each alternate included a description and associated cost, providing the Authority 
with flexibility in project delivery. The alternates were developed to allow for adjustments based 
on available funding levels, prioritization of project scope, and opportunities to incorporate value-
added enhancements into the overall facility. 
 
Following review and evaluation, Bid Alternates 1 through 6 were accepted and have been 
incorporated into the Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) for the project. Table 2 – Bid Alternate 
Summary provides a detailed breakout of the identified alternates. 
 
 



 
Page 3 of 5 

 
 

Table 2 – Bid Alternate Summary 
 

Bid Alternate Description Cost 

1 Police Parking Canopy $845,797 

2 Second Floor Social Space Build-Out $221,059 

3 Second Floor Social Space Canopy $469,737 

4 Trough Sinks $73,662 

5 Window Shades at All Exterior Windows $145,121 

6 Lobby Terrazzo Flooring $119,684 

7 Remove Foundation Drainage System ($34,125) 

8 2-Year Plant Warranty $2,266 

1-6 Total $1,875,060 

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
This project is part of the RTAA’s Capital Improvement Program (CIP), with construction funding 
approved in the Fiscal Year 2024/25 budget and additional funding requested for this project 
through the 2025/26 CIP budget process.  It is anticipated that the construction will be funded by 
Non-Alternative Minimum Tax (Non-AMT) Bonds.  A summary of HQ GMP #3 is shown in Table 
2 below: 

 
Table 3 – HQ GMP#3 Summary  

 
Description  Cost  

General Conditions/General Requirements/Bonds/Insurance $7,307,543 
Work/Construction   $45,282,822 
CMAR Contingency  $1,556,224 
Owner Contingency  $1,685,308 
CMAR Fee  $2,030,353 

Total GMP  $57,862,250 
 
 The professional service agreements for CM and CA services are being presented for 
authorization under separate actions. 
 
The Estimate at Completion (EAC) for the Headquarters Project includes soft costs of 
$19,626,954, covering design, administration, project management, FF&E, contingency, and 
hard costs of $59,213,519 for construction and long-lead equipment, for a total project cost of 
$78,840,473. A summary is provided in Table 4 – HQ Estimate at Completion. 
 
 



 
Page 4 of 5 

 
 

Table 4 – HQ Estimate at Completion 
 

Category Description Cost 
Soft Costs - 19,626,954 

A/E Design  RS&H Nevada, Inc. $7,298,150 

Pre-Construction Services  Clark/Sullivan $119,500 

Construction Administration   RS&H Nevada, Inc.  $1,999,061  

Construction Management  Construction Materials 
Engineering $2,175,218 

PMO / All Other 
PMO / SMEs and FF&E/AV, 

etc. $6,911,486 

Owner’s Contingency TBD/Misc. $1,123,539 

Hard Costs - $59,213,519 

HQ – Long Lead Equipment Clark/Sullivan $1,351,269 

HQ – Final  Clark/Sullivan $57,862,250 

Total Estimate at Completion - $78,840,473 
 
GMP No. 1 and GMP No. 2 were previously approved by the Board, and with this action, GMP 
No. 3 is being presented for approval. GMP No. 1 & 3 are being funded from the HQ Budget and 
GMP No. 2 funding comes from the New Gen Program budget.  A summary of the Clark/Sullivan 
CMAR contract, inclusive of all three GMPs, is provided in Table 6 – Clark/Sullivan Overall 
Construction Contract Summary below: 
 

Table 5 – Clark Sullivan Overall Construction Contract Summary 
 

Description Cost 

HQ Long Lead Equipment GMP #1 $1,351,269 

CUP GMP #2 $45,462,276 

HQ Building GMP #3 $57,862,250 

Total $104,675,795 

 
 
 
 



 
Page 5 of 5 

 
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Safety and Security 
People 
Facilities for the Future 
Customer Experience 
Sustainability 
 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION 
Planning and Construction Committee  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to authorize the President/CEO to finalize terms and execute Change Order #2 to the HQ 
Project Construction Contract for GMP #3 (RTAA Headquarters Project at Reno-Tahoe 
International Airport) with Clark/Sullivan Construction, establishing a Guaranteed Maximum 
Price of $57,862,250 and increasing the total contract amount to $104,675,795.” 



Board Memorandum 
09-2025-52

Date: September 11, 2025 

Subject:  Authorize the President/CEO to execute a Professional Services Agreement with 
Construction Materials Engineering, Inc. for Construction Management Services 
related to the Headquarters Project at Reno-Tahoe International Airport, in the amount 
of $2,175,218 

Presenter:  Roddy Boggus, MoreRNO Program Manager 

BACKGROUND 
In order to implement the construction of capital projects, the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority 
(RTAA) has Construction Materials Engineering, Inc. (CME) on an on-call list to perform 
Construction Management (CM) services. This on-call list was created through a formal 
solicitation in April of 2023. The RTAA selects from the list according to the project needs that 
best match the consultant's experience. These services augment RTAA staffing for specialized 
technical services and seasonal construction periods. CM services are industry standards and are 
required by FAA regulations to ensure proper administration, inspection, and quality assurance for 
federally funded construction projects.  

The CM services generally include, but are not limited to, program administration, project 
management, client coordination, agency coordination, pre-construction services, design review, 
cost estimates, project controls (cost and schedule), bid evaluation, contract administration, 
construction management, owner’s representation, construction inspection, materials testing, 
survey controls, quality assurance, certified payroll compliance, and other related tasks.  

DISCUSSION 
The Headquarters (HQ) Project is a new, approximately 62,000 square-foot Police and 
Administration facility that will serve the RTAA. Designed to bring key functions under one roof 
and out of the terminal building, the facility will improve efficiency, safety, and collaboration 
across RTAA departments. 

The Police Department portion of the facility will include modern locker rooms, K9 kennels, 
administrative offices, a briefing room, a training simulator space, evidence processing and vault 
areas, and an armory. The Administration portion will house a new boardroom, fitness center, 
break rooms with amenities for staff, conference rooms, and phone rooms, all within an open-
office environment that promotes flexibility and collaboration. 

To support RTAA throughout construction, CME will provide independent oversight and serve as 
the owner’s representative. CME’s services are based on the anticipated 487-calendar-day 



 
Page 2 of 3 

 
 
construction duration and the defined scope of work. Specific responsibilities include construction 
management, project administration, quality assurance, construction inspection, materials testing, 
contract administration, tenant coordination, certified payroll compliance, and apprenticeship 
conformance reviews. These services are intended to ensure that the project is delivered in 
accordance with design intent, contract requirements, budget, and schedule. 
 
The preliminary construction schedule, from the Basis of Award, is summarized in Table 1 – HQ 
Preliminary Schedule. 
 

Table 1 – HQ Preliminary Schedule 
 

Activity Date 
Board Approval September 11, 2025 

Notice to Proceed September 22, 2025 
 The HQ Project  September 22, 2025 - July 12, 2027 

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
This project is part of the RTAA’s Capital Improvement Program (CIP), with construction funding 
approved in the Fiscal Year 2024/25 budget and additional funding requested for this project 
through the 2025/26 CIP budget process.  It is anticipated that the construction will be funded by 
Non-Alternative Minimum Tax (Non-AMT) Bonds.  
 
The Estimate at Completion (EAC) for the Headquarters Project includes soft costs of 
$19,626,954, covering design, administration, project management, FF&E, and contingency, and 
hard costs of $59,213,519 for construction and long-lead equipment, for a total project cost of 
$78,840,473. A summary is provided in Table 2 – HQ Estimate at Completion. 

 
 

Table 2 – HQ Estimate at Completion 

Category Description Cost 

Soft Costs - 19,626,954 

A/E Design RS&H Nevada, Inc. $7,298,150 

Pre-Construction Services Clark/Sullivan $119,500 

Construction Administration RS&H Nevada, Inc.  $1,999,061 

Construction Management  Construction Materials 
Engineering 

$2,175,218 

PMO / All Other 
PMO / SMEs and 
FF&E/AV, etc. $6,911,486 

Owner’s Contingency TBD/Misc. $1,123,539 



 
Page 3 of 3 

 
 

Hard Costs - $59,213,519 

HQ – Long Lead Equipment Clark/Sullivan $1,351,269 

HQ – Final  Clark/Sullivan $57,862,250 

Total Estimate at 
Completion 

- $78,840,473 

 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Safety and Security 
People 
Facilities for the Future  
Customer Experience 
Sustainability 
 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION  
Planning and Construction Committee 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute a Professional Services Agreement with 
Construction Materials Engineering, Inc. for Construction Management Services related to the 
Headquarters Project at Reno-Tahoe International Airport, in the amount of $2,175,218.” 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  09-2025-53 

 
Date:  September 11, 2025  
 
Subject:  Authorize the President/CEO to execute Amendment No. 4 to the Professional Services 

Agreement with RS&H Nevada, Inc. for Construction Administration services related 
to the Headquarters Project at Reno-Tahoe International Airport, in the amount of 
$1,999,061, increasing the total contract value from $7,386,378 to $9,385,439 

 
Presenter:  Roddy Boggus, MoreRNO Program Manager  
 
  

BACKGROUND 
The HQ Project is intended to provide a purpose-built, multi-use facility to consolidate Airport 
Police and Airport Administrative Offices. Currently, Airport Police occupy the lower level of 
Concourse B, which will be demolished upon completion of the new Concourse A, and the 
Administrative Offices occupy the second floor of the main terminal. The HQ Project will bring 
all administrative and police functions into a single facility out of the Terminal and Concourse 
Buildings designed to support collaboration, efficient shared space usage, and improved police 
response times to both landside and airside operations, without interfering with ramp aircraft 
movements. Additionally, the facility is designed to accommodate 20 years of employment growth 
and expansion. In contrast, the current administration and police spaces lack expansion potential 
and do not support collaborative work environments. 
 
In May 2023, a two-phase RTAA Administration Workspace Study was completed to identify a 
design that balances staff preferences with Board of Trustees support.  
   
The selection of the design firm for the HQ Project followed a competitive process to ensure RTAA 
engaged a highly qualified team capable of delivering a purpose-built facility for both Airport 
Police and Administrative Offices. On September 18, 2023. RS&H was selected as the most 
responsive and best-qualified firm, demonstrating a clear understanding of the airport’s operational 
needs and a collaborative approach to design. 
 
In November 2023, RTAA executed a Professional Services Agreement (PSA) with RS&H for 
$1,784,664. The initial scope included validating the Basis of Design Report, developing the HQ 
design from 0–30%, and supporting the CMAR selection process. 

• March 2024 (Amendment #1): Extended the contract duration from April 3, 2024, to May 
23, 2024, at no additional cost to allow thorough review and coordination of the initial 
design phase. 

• June 2024 (Amendment #2): Advanced the HQ design from 30% to 100% for $5,636,054, 
producing a fully coordinated design package ready for construction. 



 
Page 2 of 3 

 
 

• June 2025 (Amendment #3): Net reduction of $34,340, reflecting several scope 
adjustments: 

o Removal of unused reimbursable funds from the 0–30% phase ($92,119) 
o Revised LEED/Sustainability scope ($30,449) 
o Addition of the RNO Main Technology Room (MTR) design $88,228, with funding 

provided through the New Gen A & B project 
 
DISCUSSION 
To successfully execute the construction phase of the HQ Project, RS&H and its subconsultants 
will provide architectural/engineering Construction Administration (CA) services. These services 
will include responding to Requests for Information (RFIs), reviewing and approving submittals, 
attending construction meetings, performing site observations, and issuing site visit reports. 
Collectively, these activities verify conformance with approved plans and specifications, confirm 
that the work meets required quality standards, and monitor progress against the project schedule. 
 
RS&H’s independent CA oversight helps safeguard the design intent, ensure proper installation of 
materials and systems, and confirm compliance with safety, accessibility, and sustainability 
requirements. This role supports timely decision-making, facilitates coordination among the 
contractor, subcontractors, and RTAA staff, and mitigates risk by reducing the potential for 
changes and claims. Ultimately, CA services are essential to achieving an efficient, on-schedule 
delivery of an HQ facility that fully meets the operational needs of Airport Police and Airport 
Administration. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
This project is an RTAA Capital Improvement Project, and the construction budget funds were 
approved in the RTAA’s Fiscal Year 2024/25, with another portion being requested in the 2025/26 
Capital Improvement Project budget process.  It is anticipated that the construction will be funded 
by Non-Alternative Minimum Tax (Non-AMT) Bonds. Below is a summary of the costs to date 
associated with the construction of this project: 
 

Table 1 – Updated Contract Amount Summary 

Description Cost Funding Source 

Base Contract $1,784,664 CIP & Non-AMT Bonds 

Amendment #1 – time extension $0  

Amendment #2 – 30% - 100% design $5,636,054 CIP & Non-AMT Bonds 

Amendment #3 – scope reduction ($34,340) CIP, Non-AMT & AMT 
Bonds 

Amendment #4 – HQ Project CA Services $1,999,061 Non-AMT Bonds 

Total $9,385,439  

 



 
Page 3 of 3 

 
 
The Estimate at Completion (EAC) for the Headquarters Project includes soft costs of 
$19,626,954, covering design, administration, project management, FF&E, and contingency, and 
hard costs of $59,213,519 for construction and long-lead equipment, for a total project cost of 
$78,840,473. A summary is provided in Table 2 – HQ Estimate at Completion. 

  
Table 2 – HQ Estimate at Completion 

Category Description Cost 

Soft Costs - 19,626,954 

A/E Design RS&H Nevada, Inc.  $7,298,150 

Pre-Construction Services Clark/Sullivan $119,500 

Construction Administration RS&H Nevada, Inc.  $1,999,061 

Construction Management  Construction Materials Engineering $2,175,218 

PMO / All Other PMO / SMEs and FF&E/AV, etc. $6,911,486 

Owner’s Contingency TBD/Misc. $1,123,539 

Hard Costs - $59,213,519 

HQ – Long Lead Equipment Clark/Sullivan $1,351,269 

HQ – Final  Clark/Sullivan $57,862,250 

Total Estimate at 
Completion 

- $78,840,473 

 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Safety and Security 
People 
Facilities for the Future  
Customer Experience 
Sustainability 
 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION  
Planning and Construction Committee 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute Amendment No. 4 to the Professional Services 
Agreement with RS&H Nevada, Inc., for Construction Administration services related to the HQ 
Project at Reno-Tahoe International Airport, in the amount of $1,999,061; bringing the total 
contract value from $7,386,378 to $9,385,439.” 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
09/2025-54 

 
Date:  September 11, 2025 
 
Subject:  Authorize the President/CEO to execute the final two-year extension of the 

Professional Services Agreement with The Griffin Company for state lobbyist services 
in the amount of $144,000 

 
Presenter:  Lindsay Anderson, Director of Government Affairs 
 
  

BACKGROUND 
To advance its legislative and regulatory priorities, the  Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) 
retains the services of lobbying firms at the state and federal level.  

• 2020: RTAA conducted a formal Request for Qualifications (RFQ) process to solicit 
interested candidates or firms to represent the RTAA’s legislative and advocacy interests 
at the state level, during and outside of legislative sessions. The Griffin Company was the 
successful candidate, and in October 2020, the RTAA Board of Trustees executed an initial 
contract with The Griffin Company for the remainder of that fiscal year (FY21) that also 
included an option for three, two-year extensions.  

• October 2021: Board of Trustees approved the first of three possible extensions 
• October 2023: Board of Trustees approved the second of three possible extensions 
• September 2025: RTAA is proposing the Board of Trustees approve the third of three 

possible extensions 
• 2027: RTAA anticipates initiating a new Request for Qualifications for state lobbying 

support 
 
DISCUSSION 
The Griffin Company is a public policy and government affairs consulting firm focused on 
Nevada-based issues on behalf of its clients. The firm and its affiliates provide guidance on 
government affairs and public policy matters at the local and state levels, in addition to federal 
matters tied to the State of Nevada and its Congressional Delegation. The primary contacts include 
John Griffin, Chelsea Capurro and Scott Gilles. This team has demonstrated expertise and effective 
advocacy on state-level issues on behalf of the RTAA since beginning this work in 2020. They 
have been available, engaged and active in protecting the interests of the RTAA. Examples of their 
success include: 

• Blind Vendors - SB61 (2021): SB61 was introduced in 2021 by the Department of 
Employment, Training, and Rehabilitation (DETR) and proposed significant changes to 
the blind vendor program in the state. The original version of SB61 posed a risk to Grant 
Assurance 24, which is critical for the Airport. AIP Grants come with specific conditions 
that must be met to retain funding, and Grant Assurance 24 mandates that the airport 
maintain a self-sustaining fee and rental structure for its facilities and services. Allowing 



 
Page 2 of 4 

 
 

any space to be rented at less than fair market value, whether paid in kind or in cash, would 
violate this grant assurance and jeopardize vital federal funding. We successfully ensured 
that the provisions of this bill would not apply to the airport. 

• Firefighting Foam - AB97 (2021): In the past we have seen bills that have made 
significant changes to the use of toxic chemicals in the state. The Griffin Company has 
made sure that any changes do not impact the use of Class B firefighting foams that are 
required for emergency response to aircraft fires. 

• Marijuana Regulations for Airports: Each session has expanded the scope of cannabis 
legislation in the state over the past several years. We have worked diligently to ensure 
that, as cannabis use grows, the prohibitions against its presence, advertisement, delivery, 
and use at airports remain intact and clearly defined. This has often involved securing 
amendments to bills to explicitly state that cannabis is prohibited in airports, including 
provisions related to consumption lounges, advertising, dispensaries, and delivery services 
at airports. 

• Air Service Development Commission: AB58 (2023 Legislative Session): Secured 
representation on the Air Service Development Commission for the RTAA. The bill, as 
originally introduced, did not include this specific provision. 

• Office of Aerospace Progress : Although the bill creating the Office of Aerospace 
(AB100) did not pass in 2025, significant progress was made. The bill had a successful 
hearing and should the RTAA choose to continue pursuing this goal, groundwork has been 
laid, ensuring the topic is familiar to legislators. The Griffin Company has also facilitated 
discussions with the Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) about taking over the 
responsibilities of the Office of Aerospace/Air Service Development Commission from the 
Governor’s Office of Economic Development (GOED). We will continue meeting with 
NDOT during this interim to continue these discussions, and they agree that they are better 
equipped to manage this office than GOED. 

• SB298: Inland Ports Overview (2021): The original introduction of SB298 proposed to 
remove the RTAA’s position within the inland port authority. We collaborated with 
legislators to ensure that the RTAA retained a voice and the opportunity to provide input 
in the amended version of this bill. Although the bill ultimately did not pass, it is essential 
to continually emphasize the expertise the RTAA brings to transportation, economic 
development, and planning within the state. 

• SB389: Peer-to-Peer Car Rentals (2021): The bill authorizing peer-to-peer car rentals 
initially did not grant the RTAA the ability to regulate these rentals beyond what was 
permitted in the bill. Through the efforts of The Griffin Company, we ensured that while 
peer-to-peer rentals are allowed, the airport maintains the authority to regulate any 
companies operating within the state and is not precluded from charging fees to these 
companies. 

 
In collaboration and coordination with the President/CEO supported by the Marketing & Public 
Affairs team, The Griffin Company will continue to be strategic consultants with the RTAA, 
including year-round support as well as support during the legislative session. This support 
includes:  
 

• Year-round, on-going support: 
o  Provide strategic guidance on government affairs and public policy matters for the 

RTAA. 



 
Page 3 of 4 

 
 

o Maintain strong relationships with political leaders and government officials 
(including but not limited to: the Governor's Office and Administration, State 
Agencies, the State legislature, legislative representatives and staff persons, 
boards, commissions, and legislative bodies) to identify and recommend strategic 
solutions to solve issues that may impact RTAA 

o Regularly communicate with RTAA  
• Legislative session support 

o Create a comprehensive state legislative strategy, with significant input from the 
RTAA, that includes developing a platform and executing the plan to ensure 
desired outcomes 

o Identify, review, track, and provide timely, proactive reports of all Bill Draft 
Requests (BDRs), bills and overall status of the session 

o Make recommendations to the RTAA on the most effective lobbying strategies for 
success for bills identified with having potential impact on the RTAA    

o Work with other key stakeholders to ensure coordinated lobbying efforts on issues 
of mutual interest  

o Coordinate RTAA testimony and/or testify on behalf of the RTAA at hearings 
before legislative committees 

o Provide a comprehensive close-out legislative session report specifically tailored 
to RTAA interests including, but not limited to, the legislative platform 

 
Throughout the term, the RTAA will provide The Griffin Company direction and be prepared to 
meet with legislators and/or give testimony. The Griffin Company will attend Board meetings as 
needed and/or required.  
 
In consideration of the services provided by The Griffin Company, the RTAA would provide a 
monthly retainer of $6,000 for the duration of the contract for a total of $144,000 over the course 
of two years, beginning November 1, 2025, and ending October 31, 2027.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The fiscal impact of the proposed amendment will be in the amount of $144,000 ($6,000 per 
month) over the course of twenty-four (24) months. The funds have been budgeted through the 
current fiscal year. 
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Facilities for the Future  
Air Service and Cargo 
Financial Stewardship 
General Aviation 
Sustainability 
 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION 
Finance and Business Development Committee 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 



 
Page 4 of 4 

 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute the final two-year extension of the Professional 
Services Agreement with The Griffin Company for state lobbyist services in the amount of 
$144,000.” 
 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum        
  09/2025-55 

 
Date:  September 11, 2025   
 
Subject:  Discussion and possible action to approve President/CEO Goals and Performance 

Measures for Fiscal Year 2025-2026  
 
Presenter:  Emily Ellison, Chief People Operations Officer  
 
  

BACKGROUND 
Pursuant to Mr. Daren Griffin’s contract (as amended on May 31, 2022), the Board of Trustees is 
required to establish annual performance goals against which the President/CEO’s performance will 
be measured for the ensuing fiscal year and which will serve as the basis for Trustees’ determination 
of any discretionary annual bonus to be paid after the annual performance evaluation for Fiscal Year 
2025-2026.    
 
DISCUSSION 
In considering the organization’s strategic priorities and current and future projects, and in 
consultation with Executive Leadership and Board Officers, President/CEO Griffin developed the 
attached Goals and Performance Measures for FY 2025-2026.  
 
There are three primary goals, focused on infrastructure development, financial self-sufficiency, 
and customer experience, supported by related initiatives intended to move the organization toward 
achievement of the identified goals. Each of the three goals has a recommended weighting and 
alignment to strategic priorities that is specified within the goals document.  
 
A copy of the proposed FY25/26 CEO Goals and Performance Measures is attached as Exhibit A. 
A copy of the CEO’s employment agreement and amendment thereto are attached as Exhibit B.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
There is no fiscal impact relative to the action to approve the proposed CEO Goals and Performance 
Measures. A fiscal impact may be realized when utilizing the adopted Goals and Performance 
Measures to evaluate the President/CEO’s performance and determine any discretionary bonus to be 
awarded based on achievement of said goals and measures. Per the employment agreement, 
discretionary bonuses may be awarded in an amount up to or equal to twenty percent (20%) of Mr. 
Griffin’s then applicable annual base salary.  
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Safety and Security; People; Facilities for the Future; Air Service and Cargo; Financial 
Stewardship; Customer Experience; and Sustainability.  
 



 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION 
None  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommend that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to approve the President/CEO Goals and Performance Measures for FY 25/26.” 
 
 



RTAA President/CEO Goals and Performance Measures FY25/26 
 

GOAL #1: 
Develop and Maintain Airport Infrastructure to Meet Current and Future Demand 

Weight: 40%   Strategic Plan Initiatives Priority Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 
1 MoreRNO  

 
New Gen A&B: Oversee the progress of New Gen A&B, specifically, achieving Board approval for the 
Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) and obtaining notice to proceed with construction. Continue 
coordination efforts with AAAC and airline representatives to maintain their support for the project and 
work to mitigate operational disruptions to the greatest extent possible.  
 
Communication: Communication will be essential to supporting everyone impacted by MoreRNO – both 
within our organization and across the broader community. We will use a strategic mix of platforms to 
deliver timely updates, manage expectations and provide the tools people need to navigate the change 
with confidence. Through open, two-way communication, accessible information and ongoing feedback 
loops, build trust, reduce friction and create a sense of shared progress during a transformative time.  
 

2 Strategic Parking Solution: Utilize a comprehensive, data-driven planning process to develop and 
implement a strategic approach for enhancing and expanding parking capacity. This strategy will be 
informed by an in-depth analysis of current and projected demand, user behavior, and industry trends as 
well as a financial analysis of each of the presented options. The study will result in a recommendation 
to the Board of Trustees for their consideration as well as the initiation of a conceptual design by the end 
of the fiscal year. 
 

3 Reno-Stead Airport (RTS) Master Plan and Land Development: Support the master plan process 
related to potential development of aeronautical and non-aeronautical infrastructure and related 
facilities, including efforts to secure approvals/funding for a new air traffic control tower. 
 
Additionally, explore creative solutions to facilitate timely development for the land that is anticipated to 
return to the RTAA upon finalized agreement with Dermody Properties, including: 

• Planning and implementation of infrastructure (water, utilities, roadways)  
• Collaboration with regional economic development agencies and other stakeholders 

  
4 Sustainability Initiative: Continue efforts to embed sustainability in all aspects of the MoreRNO 

program. Sustainability initiatives will focus on one or more areas including economic viability, 
operational efficiency, natural resource conservation, and social responsibility.  
 

GOAL #2: 
Maintain Short- and Long-Term Financial Self-Sufficiency 

Weight: 30%   Strategic Plan Initiatives Priority Nos. 3, 4, 5, and 8 
1 Budget Performance: Assess the operational impacts of new projects on the workforce and create 

funding and staffing strategies to address identified needs. Track monthly operating expenditures to 
maintain total spending within 98% of the adopted budget by fiscal year-end, and take timely corrective 
action when variances exceed 2%. 
 

2 Securing Capital Funding: Advance progress towards RTAA’s $125,000,000 grant funding goal for the 
New Gen A&B project by proactively identifying grant opportunities, strategically submitting competitive 



applications, and collaborating with project teams, the FAA, and the legislative delegation to develop 
compelling proposals aligned with grant funding priorities. 
 

3 Increase Operating Revenues: Optimize airport revenues by the end of the fiscal year, including 
aeronautical and non-aeronautical revenues. Examples include targeted air service development 
initiatives, proactive economic development partnerships, and identification and implementation of new 
revenue streams. Monitor monthly revenue performance against targets, ensuring alignment with 
adopted budget goals and making data-driven adjustments as needed to optimize growth. 
 

4 Risk Management/Safety: Implement initiatives that further emphasize our commitment to employee, 
passenger, and tenant safety, giving special emphasis to the risks and impacts associated with a major 
construction project.  

• Update and maintain safety plan to reflect impacts of MoreRNO construction and provide 
employees related training as appropriate  

• Implement a safety awareness campaign for employees, construction workers, passengers, and 
tenants  

• Update and maintain Cybersecurity Incident Response Plan 
• Review, update and maintain all personnel policies and forms to ensure compliance with 

federal, state, and local laws. Provide training to employees on updated policies and forms 
 

GOAL #3: 
Renew the Organization’s Customer Experience Focus 

Weight: 30%   Strategic Plan Initiatives Priority Nos. 2, 4, 6, 7, and 8 
1 Stakeholder Engagement: Continue advancing the airport’s reputation with stakeholders in the 

catchment area through proactive stakeholder engagement and communication strategies that support 
major initiatives and long-term objectives, including:  

• Continuing the Community Outreach Committee as a two-way communication channel with 
local stakeholders who represent industries and perspectives from across the catchment area, 
ensuring regular meetings and feedback loops 

• Design and execute integrated outreach plans for concessions, art and other RFPs related to 
MoreRNO 

• Design and execute an inclusive stakeholder engagement plan for the Stead master plan update, 
ensuring meaningful participation from government, community, business and industry partners 

• Engage elected officials and community leaders to ensure awareness of significant airport 
projects and seek feedback 

• Leverage senior RTAA leadership to advance relationships and awareness of RTAA initiatives and 
objectives with community organizations and businesses across the catchment area 
 

2 Catchment Area Focus: A million people consider RNO their hometown airport, yet hundreds of 
thousands of them live outside the Reno/Sparks metropolitan footprint. Engage rural communities 
across the entire catchment area to strengthen our identity as the hometown airport, ensuring equitable 
access to information, services and advocacy by:  

• Expanding speakers bureau throughout catchment area, including rural areas 
• Sponsoring events in rural communities that align with the RTAA’s strategic focus areas of: 

aviation, art, economic development, education, military, and tourism 
• Support economic development in catchment area by actively supporting efforts related to 

exploring feasibility of implementing sustainable aviation fuel (SAF) at RNO, including 
collaborating with the RNO fuel consortium, airlines, and FBOs.  



• Strengthening partnerships with rural chambers of commerce, tourism agencies and business 
associations to foster ongoing collaboration 

• Ensure inclusion of rural representatives on the RTAA’s Community Outreach Committee 
 

3 Customer Experience: Remain committed to delivering a high standard of service. Identify and 
implement customer-focused strategies and operational tactics that minimize disruption, provide clear 
wayfinding and timely updates, and support planning for partners and passengers alike. Listen to 
feedback, anticipate challenges and adapt in real-time to uphold a customer experience that reflects 
RTAA standards of being responsive, respectful, and resilient.  
 

4 Employee Development: Continue to invest in RTAA employees through a comprehensive approach to 
employee and organizational development including redesigning our onboarding and professional 
learning programs, continuous improvement of our performance management system, implementation 
of a leadership development program, and development of future-focused workforce and succession 
planning strategies.   
 

 
 



rüNIIII, O YI\{EN'I' AGITE E MENT

, i¿.
'I'HIS IIMPLOYÛIENT ÀGRAI MIINT ("Agleementr') is ente¡:ecl t¡is?X:1 day of -\r,-.r/...-,2020, by and between the Rcno-Tahoe Airport Àufholity ("RTAA"), a qr:asi-municipal rurpotution

(liercínaftcl callcd "lìmployel"), and Daten Giiflìn (hereinaftcr: callccl "Ernployce',).

WTTNIISSETH:

\ryI{ERII AS, limployer i s a q ua.si -rnun ic i p al corpora ti on;

WHEREAIi, Emlrloycr clo.sires to employ lìmployee as its Pr:esjcJent/CËO on thc l'ollorving tcrms
anct conditions;

WI{ElttrÄS, Er:rployee dcsircs to accept such employilent with lhtployer'olt the f'ollorving ter.rns
ancl conclitions;

N0\ry' TÍII'JI{.lrlll()llltr, lltuployee ancl Ernployer, caoh in consiclelation of the covelants aucl
mutual agreernonls hcrein corüainccì, agtee as f'ollows:

T. SERVTCJITS TO IIE I¡I,RTTOIIMITI)

Er[ployer irereby employs Enrploycc, anci ]inrployee her:eby accepts ernployment by the E¡rployer,
as lìmployer's PresidenfC]:O r.vith fìrli authority Rrr the rranagement of lìmployer's allairs ilclucli¡g
withou[ limitatiolr those dutjes, seivices ancl rccluirements sct ft¡rth in thc l!)mployer.'s lrylaws, ancl subiect
to thc limitation's spcciliecl by statute, olclinance, t'cgulation, resr¡lution ¿urcl action of l.)nrployer's J:ìoarå of
Truslccs ("Board") rrr other govetniug documents of Employer. A.ioþ clescriptio¡ for the Presicle¡t/C[O
position is attachcd hcre¿o a.s l,ixhibit ",À." Lhnployee aglees that during the tenn of this Agreemcnt
Iimployee r,vill devote ilis bost clïorts to l;inployeL, ancl shall faitlrfully a¡d to the best of E¡ployoc's skill
ancl abiiity perfbftil such executivc, managerial ol acjministrative cluties as ltrriployer ¡r¿rv ,speoifl lìurn
tirne to time, ancl shall at all finics ciilìgcntly and loyally scrve ancl encleavoL to fiufher the ilterests of
.Lhuployer'. Lhnploycc acknowleciges and understands Ernploycr's ïloarcl shal,l be res¡:o¡sible fbr". rvithout
lìrnitation, esratrlishing policy fbl the direction and crperation of ìlmployer,

2. ]'ltRM

Thc terr¡l ('oTorm") of this Agreement shall be f'or a periocl of' five (5) year:s, cclmmencing on
Ä-rrgust 3,202t ancl sh¿rll lemair¡ in cffccl. until August2,?.025 or urfii telminated by eiihel1:ar.ty.

Notwithstarding fhc above and except as specificnlly set fbrúh below, the parties recognizc
that Iimployee is au "ÄT WILLtt employee ¿rnrl serves at the pleasur.e of the llo*rcl in conformance
rvith l3y-Law #9170 of the Reno-T¿rhoc Airporf Authority Bylaws of the Iìoard ofl'['nrstees. Ttris
mcans that both fhe lloarcl and/or lhnployee cnu tcrruinate Ern¡lloyect.s employment fbr any reâson
or f<rr no rcason, suhject tr¡ the r.equirements of Sectiou 4, lrclow.

,1-
I ó090943. I

EXHIBIT B

lkolacek
Highlight



3. SALARY AND BNNICIì'I'I'S

3.1 Salarl'. Cotrunencing August i,z1}},llnployer sliall pay Employcc an annual salary oi.
Tlvo Iluridl:ecl ancl lrighty-five T)rousanci ¿rnrl no/I00 ($285,000.00X1h; "ilas* 

-Saiar.y") 
i' cc¡ual

installnrcnts, less all app.licable tax witliholclings, on the regulady scheduled payclays of'Er*ploycr..

3.1.1 Salary lncreases. Ërnployee shall be eligible firr annual increases i¡ the Sala¡y i¡
the solc discretion of lÌrnployer's llo¿ncl.

3.1.2 Bonus. Ernployee may be eligible lot' a discrctionar¡,, non-mandatory cash bonus
(the "llonus") begirulittg July 1,2021, (rvhich bonus shall not be prorate<i to ¿iccount f'or less tlian a full
yezlt's bonrts proYided.Limplo¡,es co¡nmçnces ein¡rloyment by September l, Z1¡1),and continui'g o' the
satne date each yeal thereafter clur'.ing the Ënrployee's employmed uncler this Agreer:lcnl as adclitional
compcnsation for lìtnployee's services lenclel'ecl. Thc clecision to award a Bonus shalt be in tho sole
cliscretion of the lirn¡rloyer's lloald. 'lÏre Bonns, iL'any, shall be up to 10% of Employee's then applicable
aturual Base Salaly ¿ind the amount of the Bonus, if auy, shall bc detennined in the sole discretio' of the
Ernployer's Board <lf Tlustees basccl on [rnplo1.ee,s achicvement ofperformance criteria ancl goals
cstablislied by Ernplol'er's Board. Iimployee's pertbnlance for' the porpn.* ol'determining thJbon's will
b0 i:eviewed on a f-rsc¿rl yeur bzrsis (r'Y202012021,1ìY20212022,FY 202.2/2023,Fy202312024 and,
FY2012412025, res¡reetivcly). Enrployec slrall participate in the ar¡1u¿1l rcvici.v a1<l shall ccxrperate with
rcasonahlc lcque'sts macle by the Boald duling thc review lll'ocess. ]'þe llo¡us shall be su¡jcct to all
applicablc withholclings and sinrilal'taxes, ancl.sliall bc paiA within thir,ty days (30) after aivar.cl.

3.I.:l llelocatÍon pnchagc. Er:rployee rvili rcceive ¿r one-tirne relocation allos,ancc not to
exceecl Twenty-Jìivc Thousand Dollals ($25,000.00) to cover: expcnses incurr.ecl by ì:mployee relatecl to
relocatirtg to the Reno/Sparks a1"ea li'om his oument location lbr reasonable a¡<1 cu.stomãry r,elocation
experlses, including rnovelneut of householcl goocls; housing search tr:ip for Employee anri
spouse/sigrtificant other; tempol'at'y loclging at prior ancl new resiclencc not to cxcccd one morrth;
tcml"rorary storage of householcl goods at prior alicl new residence not to exceecl one mont¡; transpor.tation
cr:sls, me¿ils, loclging aucl l:elated expcnses lequilc<lto movc Employee aricl clepe¡dents to ,,"uu r"ii,l*rr.r.
Such expcnscs will he reimbur.sed rvith supporting rcccipts.

3.1.4 lìeir¡tbursenrenú of rclocation allowrncc. Shoulcl lirnployee resign or.be
terr:riuated fbt' causc within I 2 months o1'statt date, Ëmpioyee will be require cl to lepay wit6in nincty (90)
clay.s of'the resignation or tct'miltatir:n, the fllll arnount ol"the relocalion aljt.lrvanr:e r.eimbLlrsed to
lilrployee.

3,2 llcnclits. Employce shall bc eligíble fol tlie fbllowing be¡elits:

3,2.1 Insut'ancc Covct'age. W-itlr lespect to litb insurance on Employco, Employee slrall
receivc lifb insurance of two times llase Salary along wittr Irive 'I'housancl ($5000,0-O¡ iur Er.pli,,yðe's
spouse and onc Thousand ($ì1000.00) f'or eaoh cliilcl ol'trrnployee.

3'2,2 Auto llxpense. Þ,rnployer shall trlay Employee a nronthly antonrgbile allowancc o[
Six I'Ilrnch:ed Dollars ($6OO.OO¡ pcr nronth. llnployee shall be lcsponsible for. all exper$es incurrecj
Ie)ating 1o the velúolc inclutling bnt not limited to ga.s, rnaintenance, taxcs, insnïance, ii"ens* f'ees ¿inci

a
r(i099s4.ì. J



I'egistl'atiotl, Such automobile strall be legistered in the name of .bnçloyee, not Er'ployer, Since
lÌnrployee orvus at¡d/ot'¡najutains such antornobile in his incJiviclual .upoåiry, and uot in iris capaoity as
Plesident/ClËo of'Ëlnpioyer, Em¡rloyel' assurres no liabilily with lcspecit'r t't.ti* ar¡tomobiie, other tla' thc
monlfrly automobile allowance plovidccl f,ol by this section 3.2.2

3.2'3 llusiness Ex¡tenses. Ernpioyel shall pay ol reirnbursc Ðmployec f'or: all reasonaSle
bttsiness and travel expenses incurrecl.by F)nrplclycc in ieitbnüiug the dutic.s llelcuncler', subjcct to
Ittaintenanco of appÏopr:jate cloctlmsntation by Enrployee arrcl revie'n, a¡tl approvat by the Chairnran or
Vice-CLraiLnlan oI llnrploycr's i]oal'cl. l]usiness exponscs, incluclíng prof'essiàiral ¿ges ¿rnd nlem6erships,
shall be paicl or rcilnbursed jn accorclatrce wifh Employcr's customàry ¡rractices. E'rploycc agrccs to
promptl¡t sublnit aruy ancl a1l cxFenses to J-im¡rloycr for leinltrursoment, aricl tç provicie ntty Ao"urnätation
that lJnrployer rnay rcquest ol rcquirc in older to substanl.iate thc oxpense i¿,r. wtrich E¡rployee secks
rcitnbursernent. Ilnrployec unclcrstancls iliat fhe lailule to prnrn¡ltly submit such opå,,*". fìr::
t'eimbursemettt, ot: to ¡I'ovicìe an¡' clocumcnt¿rtion leasonably requested by'Ernployg,, rÌlay I:e grouncls fcr.
the dcnial of reirnbursement of au expense.

3.2.4 Merlical, Ðental, Vision, Long-term DisabilÍty Insur.ancc, Illexihle I25 lrlan
Covcrngc, Dcferrctl C'ornpensation, arttl othcr Bcncfits. ììmployee sjrall receive rneclical, pr.esc'iptio',
dctfal, vision ancl long-ter:m clisability insurance at n<-l cxpense to .l.ìnrployee. Covsiod, eligible
clependetrts seelcing health insurancc wilt have their ¡:reiniunrs paicl ¿tt BSrtrc by Etrployer, Empioycr:will
pay COIÌ]ì.'\ coverage pretniutns until l-:hrrployee is eligible to parlioipate in thl Liurployer:,s heaitn þlan,

3,2.5 I'ublic Employccs Rctircmeltt Systenr ßËRS) Contribution. Iirnployer slrall
pay 100% ol'thc retirement contribtltions to the Ncvacla ììlblic l,lmployee 's Retilemcnf Systern(nÍ,ilìS) for
ììnrployec np to a salary cap set annually by pERS.

3.2.6 Ern¡rloycr Contt'ibution to llcfcrlcd Cornpensation PIan. Ernployer has a 457
plalr availalrle to Ernployee upon thc start of hi.s ernploynrent. Ernploye¡ shall make no contr.ib*tions tcr
thc l)cfelleci Cornpensation Plan,

3.2.7 Workers' Courpensation llrsulance. l:*nployee is covoîcd by Wor.kers'
Oornpensation Insutancc as tuanclate<l by Stale larv. Emplo¡ler: pay.s tlrafrriì cost of this illsuLânue.

3.2.8 Brnploycc .Assisúance l)rograrn. Ernployec ancl his rìcperrcle¡ts are eligì¡le lìrr up
io l0 "family" visits pel'year to an apprt;veci iÌmployec Assísiance Prograrn provicler at the expe'sc of
Errryloyot', subjeci to auy tequit'etneni-s irrryroscd hy Un4lloycr's be¡ellts prlvla,:i1s¡

3.2.9 Vacntion l.,eave¡ Eur¡rloyee shall be entitleclto 19.5 days of vac¿rtion leavcperye¿ìr,
f'or the first äve (5) ycars of service. Such vacatiou leavc is accruecl annually. If vac¿itio¡ 1cavc ¿rccl.ral
cxceeds 520 hours at thc cncl <il'thc last pay period of any fisorLl year, Limployee will bc paid for all
vacation leave over this arnount ¿rt that time.

3.2.10 Siclt Leave. Ernployec shall bc entitled to 15 clays of sick lcave ¡rer year. Sucli siclc
leave is ¡rccnrcd annually and is sub.fect lo unlimitccr acq.uai.

3.2.I1 Ifolitlay Leavei lirul:loyee sliall be cntitlccl k¡ 13 l.loliday.s per yezu. irr addition to
vacation ancl sick leavc

-J-
I(109994.ì,1



3.2.12 Accrucrl Vacation L,eitve. Ernplo¡,es,shall be entillecl to be compensated f'or.all
accruecl brtt tmr.tsecl vacafiou but uot Síclc leave ol Holiclay leavc at thr: conclusion ollthjs Ag:eement at the
Ilmployee's then Base Salary,

3,3 T'uition lleimllursement, Lirnployee is eìígitrle fbr hritioli reirubursement for, ooqrses
rpl¿tecl to his crnploymont or clcveloprncnt at lìmpìoycr,.

'l'uition reitnbursemctrt is available f'or nonnal and customary expeuses (exct>pt
fixcd ccltiiprnent) associated with a class, semitrar, couf'erence, certilication
pl'ogralll, ol sÍucly coulso that is useful for the enrplovee's cun'ent perl'ounance, bril
is uot a minimurn rlualilîoation ftn' l.he posiLion nol lequirecl to maintain acceptable
job perforrnanoc. 'l'hc leirnbursemcnt is avail¿rble for: any coul'se begun in a fiscal
year up to a utaximurn of $1,500, The Chairnian of thc Boarcl of Tìr¡stecs in
coot'clination with the Vice-President of' I{uuran Resoulces will malcc thc
appropt'iate cteteurinal.ion, ìn their sole disc.retion, as to allowable cxtrlenses u,hun
J:implcryee tecluests pre-appr:oval of a pafiiculaï cerlification Çoulse or semÌnar,

I

a Arty class, cettification corìLse, conlèrence or semin¿n 1'ccs ol ot.lrcr nolmzil arrtl
ottslomary chat'ges paicl f'or tlolir scholarship, veteran's benefîts, grarrts-in-aid, or
othe:: sout'ces aro not cligible fcx reit¡lrurselnerrt. I{eimlrtuser¡ent is only possible
f'or ¡;rogratns ol' stucly that have been approved l'or tr-rition I'eimbnrsement in
atlvanc;e try 1he Chairman cl.f thc Board in coorcliliation with thc Dilector of lh¡man
Resoulces; attcn<lcd, cr:mplcted ancl/ol passccl (a gradc of rrcrr or helter ol a pass);

taken ftoln a t'ecogúzed ¿urd/ol acoleditecl sclxrol, instilution or professional
association; ancl the employee has provicled all neçossat'y docurnentation about
costs and successfr,rl attenclance/completion.

'I'he proglam of shrdy and all lelatecl wor'lt will nolmally be completccl on thc
Employee's own time unless the Ch¿rimran of the lloard has cletelmined, in writing,
l:eforc thc coru'sc is approved, that the corÌrse would be of siguificarrt benefit for'
Employcr. In thjs casc, l1mployor may approve the nse of iimitecl rvodc tirne release
(up to threc hours of lraicf work tirne) cluling the ìimployeer's rrrin al wotking horirs.

Except as otherwisc statecl helein or requireci by ap¡:licablc law, Emtrlloycl has no obligation to
establish atry ltringe Benefit plan nol in existence on fhe d¿rte hereof or to provide to Ernploycc any bcnefi t.

¡rlan othclwisc available to it.s exeurpt erntrlloyees or:'liustees. Any benefiLs no[ ex¡rlessly include<lin this
Agroetnetrl ilrough thcy may be inclucfecl in the Management Guiclelincs or other h,rnployee bençfit plans,
ì ncludin g (iain- S halc, are intcn tion al ly cxcÌ uci cd .

a

-4
J 6Lì999,1 l. I



4. TERMIN,A.TION

4,1 ll-errnin?lifin for Cause

4.1.1 Generally. lhnployer tray intmeclialely telminate tfús Agtccrnent Llpon thc
occllüellce of any o1'the following cvents in whìch casc limployee shall only be eligible fi¡r those \\¡ages
and benefits required to bc paicl by statc law in cflcr:t at thc timc:

4.1.1.1 Ernployco:
i. Is convioted of; ol plcads guilty ot'nok> conterrdclc to, a felony or åny act

aruoutrling to emllezzlcrncnf, fi'aucl, or theÍ't ol involving moral trupitgcle
(whether or not against Ernployer or another enrployee of ì:mployer).

ä. Is convicted ol; or plcads guilty or nolo contenclere to, in a corut of'
competent juristliotion, a lèlclny resulting in death or substantial bodily or
¡lsychological harttl lt¡. ot'other act of tuolal fltrpifude harming, aüy pefsoil.

iij, Engagcs in condtlct demonstrably ancl rnaterially iqjulious to the plopelty,
bu.siness, goodwill ancl repritatìorr of Euiployer-;

iv. Commits selious woilc-relatecl missonduct, including, but not linritcci to,
gr:oss negl i gen ce oÌ, intentional il legal conducl.

v. Illegally uses narcotics or othcr cotrtrolled substance.s.

vi. Intentionally injtrles ot assaults any person in thc course of his lrei:forrnance
of services f'or Employer fhat is not.iustified Lrmlcl the circumstances,

vii. Ðiscloses to unattthorized persons cclnfidc¡rtial or plopriety inf'olmation
relating to En4lloyer, its govern¿lnoç, ot' operations,

viii. coninits ury act, whjch clcalcs ancl unteasonably offensive work
envilomncnt flor crr4rlt)yocs or patrons of lirnployer.

ix. Fails, alÌei: rccciving thilty (30) day.s arivance wlitten nr:tioe fiorn ll¡rployer.,
to cure any blcach of this Agt'eement by fi}nployee, including without
lìrnitation atty violation ol any policy or ploceclule of lìmployerJ or ally
b¡:cach ol stzrtutr:ry or comfiloll law cluty

x. Lirtgages in concluct that constìtules a r,villftil viol¿rtir:n of the est¿rblishctl

wjtlcn polices o.r prncedures ofl'l'Àz\ legarding the contluct of jts

employees, i n clucling .¡rolicies legarding scxual harassmenl of enrp l oy ees

ancl use of iltegal cÌnrgs or substances.

xi. Commits any unethical conduct in vioiation of Scction 5.3,

5
l(,099943.1



4,2, '.fer¡ni¡UJtion upon l)eath, T'his Agleement sirall automaticnliy telminate upon tlie death
crf .hhriployee, and Lhrployer shall n.ot be obligatecl to pay the estate, famil¡,, heirs ol any other per.son
clainting utrclet' Iinrployee rìny collrpells¿rtion or clisability income ibl his services to En'rployer which
woulcl havo bccu tìuc to Ernployee aftet his death, except for accruecl salar:y ancl vacation leave.

4.3, Ter'¡nination unonDisabilitt'

4,3.1 Detnifion. "I)isabiliiy" shall have tlie sanle ÌÌro¿ìning as thc dclurition of
"'I.)isabilily" putsuilnt to any policy of disaì.rility insur¿urce cauiccl by Employcr fbr.thc bcnefit crf Hrnploycc
in fblce at thc time of such l)isability, or, if rio such clisabÍlity policy of insurance is tlien in f'or.oe,

"I)isabilily" shall ntean the inability of limployee to provide ninety percent (90%) of the avelage level ol'
tìrne cluring a continrtcxr.s tht'ec (3) month perioil ("j)etelnination Periocf"), by l.eason of illness, accide¡t
or othet'mcntal ol physical infirmìty reasonably expected to be of inclefinite dru'ation, at the end of rvhich
Dctculiination Period Employec shall bs clcomed to bc Di.sablecl.

4.3.2 Tc{minatign Uegn Disabilitv. In" Íhc cvcnl- Employer fincls ll.rnployec to bc
Disal:lecl, within the mezuring of ttris Agrccmcnt, this Aglecrncnt shail aulomalic¿rily f.er.minatc as ol'the
date firnployee is cleemed to [:c .Disabled and Ernployer shall not be obligaterl to lray the Ernployoùl or ar]y
other person clairniug uudel lÌrnployee alry cotq)ensation ol' clisability incorne fol lús servioes to
Llnrployer except ftrt' accruer{ salary ancl vacatiorr leave; howeveL, any conmlercially ftinclecl clisability
insrtt'ancc benclit shall continuc to tho cxtcnt proviclecl undet such insnrance colitract notwithstandilg s¡ch
tcl'nrination, If Ernployer lirrils linrployce not to be I)isahled within the meaning of this z\,greernent, then
the ernployment of Enrployee shall contirlrrc.

4.4 Tcrurinaúion without Cause.

4.4,1 Ily limployer. Irmployel rnay tertnirtate this Âgleement r,vithout oaulse, at any tirne.
lf strch tetmination occttrs Urnployer shall pay Ernployee severaûce in an anroluit ec¡ual to six (6) nio¡ths
of limirloyec's l3asc salaly along with all accrued, unusecl vacation leave.

4.4.2 By lt}nployee. F,rnployee may termin¿rte this .Agreernent wilhout cause at any time
nricl Ern¡lloycr shalI puy till aocrucd l]asc Salary ancl accn¡ccl, nnused vacation lcavc through limployee's
noticed temrinalion date or upon such shol'Lcr noticc as dc{emrinccl. by thc llmployer's Tlo¿u,d.

4,5 Terrniu¿rtion Äctivitics

Iirtployee will assist in cornpleting the separation checklist ancl exit interview ancl
ptomptly ïetutrt all RTAA i.ssued cquipmetrt, keys, carcls, iclentification barlges, lockers, computers,
vchÍclcs, ilagcls, tclopltones and simil¿r items to the appropriatc official(s). llmployee agl'ees that, upon
terntittation uf'his ernploytrent for any tÇason, Iic will cer"tify in wrÍting that all clala ancl property of
Employer has been retut'necl and tnt letained by Eurployce, Em¡rlcycc shall also complete all necessary
fbrrls so that the persounel action effecting thc re siguation or tcrmination can be ¡rrocessecl.

""6
I 609994J. I



5. I)I'1'I¡IS ANI) (}BI.,IGÄ'|ION,S OF EMIILOYEE

5.1 Exúe¡rt of Serviccs, Iirnployce âgrees that the cluties and services to be pelfbi'rnecl by
Hrnployee shall be perfcrrmed cxclusivcly f<rr Enr¡lloyel and that Jimployee serves at the clirection and
pleasure of the Board,

5.2 PolÍcies altd Proccdurcs, ln atklition to thc tcms llcroín, Empl<iyee ag¡'ccs to bc bouncl by
Iirnplciyet''s policies zurd procedures as they rnay bc aurended by Ernployer fiom timo to tirnc, In thc cvent
thc tcrttrs in this -r\gleeme:rt conf'lict with Ðnrployer's policies ancl procechues, the telms herein sliall tal<c
prcceclence, Limployee acknowleclges having reacl l1,mployer's policies, procedures and manuals ancl
agt'oos tc abidc b¡' tTre $ailre) incluclitrg but not limifed to l-ìinplclyer's policy of prohiliiting persoual use of'
Employer''s ol'edit o¿u:rls.

5.3 Ethical Conduct'. Thc paltics agt'ee that limployee shall perfonn the Services for
Lìmployer and shall conclucl liimself at a1l tirncs in strict accorclance with the cthical ancl prcfessional
staudards of the Nevacia State Hthics Cotrunission and the provisions of thc Ncvacla Elhics in Ciovernment
l,arv. Shoulcl any of the afbreurentioued be violated Employel rnay ternún¿rte this Aglccmcnt by written
nciticc of cancellation, which shall be efïective imruedìately upon clelively to Employee .

5.4 Compliance rvith Laws, 'I'he palties âgree that Employee shall per,fornr the Selvices lor
.liniploycr and shall co¡lduct hinrself at all tinles in strÍct accorilance with all applicable laws of the Unitcd
States and the Statc ol'Ncvacla, ancl all rules, regula{ions, policies ancl c¡:iteria establishecl by the Employer-
fi'r"rm tirne to tinre, r'elcv¿rnt to Eniploycc's pollor.mancc ol'thc Servjcos.

(t. INDEMNIFICATION

lÌmployel agl'ees to release ancf clischarge Employee and shall inderruúfy, hold hzu'mless ancl
<lcfcnd Employee against all liabilities, losses, demancls, claims, acconnts, actions ancl ptoceedings arisirrg
fir:tn acts or ilcoisions maclo by Ernployee whìlc pelf'ormirig the .services fbi'iJmployer to tire firltest extent
pclrnitted by law, but nol wil.h lospcc:l to olaims by f:inrployel againsr Employee f'or. acts of dishonesty,
fi'aucl, intentional misconduct, g,ross negii¡¡cncc, clirninal acts or ultra vjlcs acts. Iimployee agrees to
lelease and clischat'ge bmployer, zurd shall hold harmiless ancl inclcmrii.þ trmployer far ail ljabilities, losses,
clemancis, claims, accounts, actions ancl proceedilrgs arising or lesulting fi'orn Enrploycc brcaching lhis
Agreenrent fbr'1ì'aurl ol intentionaI illegal ooncluct.

7. M ÍSCIìLLÄNIdOI]S

1,1 Assignmcnt. IÌxcepl- ¿rs othelwise provided helein. ):imployee may not and slrall not
assign any lights ol delegate any <lutics undcl this Agreement.

7.2 Noúices. All notices, dernancls, rcquost$, anrl other cornrrnrnicaticxrs rec¡uirecl or pennittecl
to be servecl on or given to eithel party by the othel shail l:e in writing ancl shall bc <lclivcretl personally or.
lly tJnitecl States mail, first class postage 1l'epaicl, certified ot legistered nrail, return rcccipt reclucstccl.
Noticcs shall be acldressed as follows:

7
r6099943.t



If to llnployer: If to Brnployee:

RTAA

Attn: Chailman of' lÌrar:<l

1.3 Confidentialitv ¡rnd Restrictive Covenauls. Hnrployee recognizcs that by leason of
pel:foüning setvices lci:: Iinrploycr, h)nploycc will acqnire conficlential a¡d pròpl'ietary i¡ftiimalion an¿
tt'ade secl'els ooncet'ning thc opcraiion ol.'Enrployer:. the ilse or clisclo.snr:e of whictr 

"uul,l 
.urr*ltrnploycr.

suhstantíal ancl iuepat'able loss aud hal'tr¡ tll¿rt coulcl not lrc reaclily calculatecl and fbr which no re*ecl1, 41
law u'rruld be acleqlate. Accorclitrgly, Ëmployee covcnant.s and aglccs rvitlr lÌmployel.that he will not at
any tìmc both dur"irrg arid a{Ìer the teun of ttris Agleernent, rlircctly ol inrlirectÎy, clisclose auy secr.et or
confidelltial irlftrrrrlafion lhat lie may leíiln, oL, in performance r)l'tho scrvice.s hercil for o¡ on [rehalf of
Iimployer, use such infotmation in a nratrnel detrirnentnl to tho interests of Employer, exccpt with the
prior rvritten consent of-Fm¡rloycr ot'as such infor:nation: (1) is within the p¡5lic domain or comes witliin
tlre publìc dotllain without ilt), þ,'*u"n of thjs Agreenr.ent ot (2) was clenionst¡ably knorvn to Empl.yee
Plior to the disolosure by thc Entployer providcd that the source of such inf'o¡¡ation is ¡roL knowr ïy the
l1mirloyee to h.ave been bourtcl by arry obligation o,l r:onficlentiality or ficlgoiary cluty to the E'rpl'yer,

Thc term "oonfidelrtial infblrnation" inclucles, witlior.rt lirnitation, infrrrmation not previously
disclosed to thc public or to the tracle by Employer's ûtanagernent with respect to Iimptoyer or any
pt'oduots, facilities, tncthocls, trade secrets atrd otber irtellectual ploper'[y, .soltwar<¡, sot¡too co¿c, systerns,
procedures, mahuals, oonficlcrrlial t'epotts, fi.nancial inforrnation, busincss plans, pr.gspect.s or op¡ror{unities
witli respect to bmployel but shall exoluclc any infornraticln alreacly in the pulnic rJcxnain, Ernployee
recoguizes ancl agrees that all copyt'ights, traclct¡rarks, or other intellectual proper-ty lights to c¡catccl wodçs
arising in any way fi'onr Ernployee's employrnenl by Ernployel are the sole ancl exclssiye proper'g of
Ernploycr altcl agrees to uof asser-t auy such lights against Ernployer: or. atly thir.dparties. Úpun
tet'millatjon of'this Agrecnrent by either party fbr any teason, Employcc will relinquish to )1mployer al1
clooutncnts, bÜoks, ntattuals, lists, t'ecords, publications or othel writingso kcys, .r",ljt carcis, eqgipme¡t,
ocrrtrpltter dìslcs, tuid any othcr similar le¡rositorie.s off infbrmation or other. altiolcs that cãmc into
.l;imployee's possession in colrnccl,ion rvith llie employrnent for Employcr ancl [o maintain ¡o copies or
du¡llicates withor¡t th.e r.vlit{.en approval o1'Finployer's ßoald of ii'usiees, Jimployee ngr.ees t¡at, up<.rn thc
tel'mination of his employment lbr iury reasoll, hc will celti:S in w.iting tirat al1 s¡ch clata has bcc'
lctnrncd tr: Employer ancl not retained by Enrployee

7.4 Ârbitrrrtion. Exc.ept as othclwise plovicled hclcin, 'lìmployec 
anct timptoyet agr.ee that

any clispirtcs bctwccn }imployee ancl lÌrn¡lloyer alising out of this Agrccmcui, ç¡ thc brcacht¡erJofi shall
be resolYccl b¡'art irnparfial atbitral-or in t.he State of Nevacln pursuant to the vo¡-rntary labor arbiiration
rules issuecl by the Allcrioan Arbitrati<ln Association in efTect in tlie Strte ol'Nev¿rda at thc clate of. the
dispute, the awalcl renderecl by lhc albitr:atcx shall be conclusive anci bincling upo¡. Employcc ancl
F,mployer, .Liach party shall pay its own expenscs i'or the albitratjon and tlre fèes and **p"nr.,t olì lhc
arbitt'ator shall he sltat'ed equally. Ihis albitLation rec¡uircrnent .sha.ll also apply t6, witho¡t iirnitation, all
olaims that coulcl be bl:ouglrt by lÌrqrloyee at any tirne durin.g or aftcr fhc tó¡1 of this Agr.eenreut uncle'
fcderaì, s|atc and local statutol:y ot' cotlllllorl iaw, inolu<ling: thc Agc Discrìmination in t,)mployrne't 

^ct;Title VII of tlic Civil lì.ìghls Act of 1964 (as amencled); the Anrelicans with Disaliilities Act; the l;air
Labol Stanclarcls Act; thc Farnily Meclical l,eave Act; 1he lirnployc<.: Polyg¡aph protecti¡n Act; the
Limployee Retireuront lncoulo Sccurify Á,ct; thc National ]-atror llelations Act; any stalutcs or common

16(ì999,1.1 1 
o



Iarv rcgaldirtg cmployment tendnatiorr; flny claiuls for wronglul clischarge, wongtul anest cll.
ittt¡rrisottmento ltitLassrncnt 01' discriurination, intedion¿tl or negligelt infliction of cnroli6nal distress,
iuv¿rsion of right of privacy, or: defhmatiorr. lìrnployee expressly aclurowlc<Igcs ancl agrees that,
tlrrough this Sccfion 7,4,hc is rvniviltg his right to a jury trial conccrning thc above claim.s.

7,5 Public Records. Ëmploycc understantfs and agrees that, in light of lJrnployer's status as a
qrrasi-municiPal cotporation, ccrtain rec<lrcls ancÌ/or: in.filrmation pellailring to }ärnployee's ernploy¡rent
rnay neecl to lre pnblicly disclosed. Enrployee aglee.s that Ernployer ntay putrìicly cliso.lose a1y i¡fbrrnatiorr
âs 1ïa!'bc recluirecl by law,

7.6 ('loverning l,nw. All rigtrts and obligntions herenncicl'shall bc govemed ancl constr.necl in
accoLclaltcc r,vith thc laws of the State of Nevada, withoutrefercnoç fo coilfljsts of lawpritrciplcs.

7.'l Failure fu l¡inforce. 'ihe failure to enfbrce at any tirne any of the provisions of thís
Àgreeutent ot' to t'ccluile at any time pell'ormance by the other party of any of tire provisio¡s hclcof shall in
no wÍly be coustnted to be a w¿rivtli'r;f suoh plovisions or to afIèct either the valiclity of.this Agreement (or
any patt heleof) or the Ïight of eithçr parly thcrcafler 1a enfÕl'ce each a¡cl evely provisio¡ of this
Agreernent,

7,8 Captions. 'l'he captions conlainecl in tliis Agrccmelrt arc 1i¡' convcnience only ancl are not
inlcnclcd to lirnit nt'del'ine the sccrpe or eflbct of any provisir:n of this Agrcomcnt.

7-9 Counterparts. 'l-his z\greentent may be executed in any nurnbel of oountcrparls an<1 each
such coutrterpart shal1 bc dcenied tr: be an otiginrtl, but a1l of u'hich, whentake¡ togetlicL,,r:hall co¡stiûlte
one Agteenient,

7'10 Severability. If any provi.sicttt of this Agreement is helcl to be invalid or unenltrrceable by
any .iudgrneltt or decision of an administrative, arhitral ol ju<licial trìbunal, coult oï other body of a
contpetent juriscliction, the rentainder o1 this Agleerncnf shall not be affccted by s¡ch judg¡rent or.
dccision, ancl ths Agt'cement shall be carried out as nearly as possiblo accorcling lo its crther prnviiions arrcl
intont.

7.ll lintirc Agreetrtent. llhis Agreement contains the entiro unclelstallcling bctween Ïìmpl<lyee
aucl Eurploycl with rcsircct to the sutrject matter of this Agreernent ancl it supcrsc<lcs an¡, prior ôral or
wlitten agl'eeüLents atrcl tlndel'standings bctwecn thcm. 'I'his A.gteement may be nroclified oniy in writing
signecl by limployee ancl an authorized leplcscntativc of lîmployer,

7,tZ I'resrtmpfion. Tliis Agreentenl or any section thereof shall not be constn¡ecl agai¡st any
larty clue to the fact that said z\greeurent or any scction theroof r,vas drafte<i iry saicl party,

7.'13 Sepnrntc Counsel, Iìach party has t'eceived the ìnclcpcndcnt aclvice of its attorney pr.ior to
thc execution clf this Agtceutcnt. it is unclerstood ancl agleed that ttr* undcrsignecl have nåt been
itlflucnced to any extcnt wliafsocvet in rnaking this Agreement by any replesentative, agcnt or ellpjoyee
of ari aclverse party, or iry any attorney, pol'.son or persons tepresentfurg or ernployeci by the undcrsigncd,
ancl that this ^A.greemeff is entelccl into ficcly, voluntarily and lcnowingly.

CI

f 609q943. I



IN WIïINI{SS \ryIlIIllt{IilOI{, the parties have executecì this A.greement efTective as of
^*_,2,020,

. l.-(

_-¿..--.-.._ _..,,. ... ..

"IllMPf ,OYDR'l

RENO.TAHOE AIRPORT ATiTI"IORITY

llv:
J

I'.TÙ.l\irPI,OYEIT'' l

¿_."":rr, 
, ito/

.By:

l)aren Clillin

- 1û -
l {;099943. 1



EXHIBIT A

PTTESIDTNNT' & CH ItrF IIXECTiTIVII OFFI T]EIT - KIIY ItÏ SI}ON SI I}ILTTIITS
Uncler general clirectitirr of ths Boar.cl <.¡.f 'l'r'r¡stees, the Presiclent & Chief:Executive Officer is r:csponsihle
fÌlr plamirig,-organizing,.clircoting and contmllirrg atl ñrnctions and aclivities of'thc tr.vo-airpor.t systep
opct'atecl by ûre Rcno-'I'alroo Airport Authority, Major rcsponsibilities, by categoly, inclucfc:

Air ¡;rt r I Op er a I i o tt,s, S e c m'i 4t, qncl Aíai n t en qn c e

' Monitot's airpot't operations atrd taìces action to enforoc fbclclal, .statc and local rules ancl
legulzrtitxrs governing airpolt use anrl opelatiurs,

' I"acilitates the provision off air: tlansportation servioes to meet the clernancls of tþe ale¿r
within the erlít'omneutal constrairrts oI'the community f'or less noise.

' Coordinatcs ground-olrerating tegulatiorrs, r'unwây use and rnaÌntenance with Fcilcral
Aviatjon ArlmÏriistr¿rtìon (FAA) tlaffìc controllers to rnaintain a saf'c o¡relational clim.atc.

' lÌ,nstrre.s the Âirport.Erngrgelcy Plan (AEP) is cornplo{c ancl teviewecl regnlarly arrd meets the
reqltilement to provide fbr the safety of the erltrrlrrycos ancl the traveling putrlid,

Finance & Adminisfi'nti on

' I)irects stafT in.various aspcots ol' buclget development f.ol the olgarrization inclu<ling
establishing policies, tccr¡mmending hu<lgets, establishing contlol systerns re.lativc tõ buclget
l1]¿ìll¿1genr{nl within each clcpaltment, and keeping mallagcment staffand Boarcl ol'Trusteè.s
itú-ormed of financiai status on a regular: basis.

' Maintains a selÊsupportìng or sutplus rcvcnrìe status by applying goocl bnsine.ss
managemeltt plocedru'es.

1''Ianning, Constrt.rcIion qnd Etutit"onmentul

' Parl.iciPates.in the long aticl sholt-range plruuing of aiqrort facilities by pr:eclicting aviatiou
ncccls in orclel: to f'crmr.llafe recotnmencl¿rliolrs I'ol urajor: expzursion progiam.s an<1-
implcivenrents of the ai4rort.

' f)efines, clelivers, ¿rnd ovorsccs thc irnplcmcntation of aitlrort plans to ensril'e the safÞ, secuïe,
aud elTicient clevelopmenl oL o¡:elations, zurcl maintcnance ofltlic airport and relatecl facilities,

' Enfot'ocs Feclelaf , Sl.ate, ancl local ruLcs anct regulations governing airlror'l usc outsicle the area
of atrthority of lhe liecleral Aviation Aclmillistlation (FAA) url<l recouilrentls ol pronulgatcs
moclifioations in existing mles.

" Assists in the clevclolrment of policies, pi'ocedures, arrd st¿¡nclarci.s fur'the Airyort Authority.

' Iurlrlemetús trew concepts ancl innovations to implove airport operations,

' Directs tr conducts special .sturlics aud reports, proviclûrg reconunendations ancl
subs tan tj vo in folmati on ttr. policy arrd cl ecision-malcirrg,

C o m trutn i c t t l: i o n.ç <*. C o m m un i lyt / (1 ot, e r n m e nt Re I s t i o n s

' üstablishes ancl f'osters liaisori witlr irW oonstifucnt gl'oups to cn$ure that the.Airport ^4.uthority's
interests are c<¡orlfurated wilh those ol'l'elevant stahchoiclcts. Replesent.s the Ï{erio-'.1.'alroe Affirt
Authority iu the conrnrunity. the inclusLr'y and in grrvcl'nrnental mcctíngs.

tó099943. I






	09-11-2025 Board Agenda 
	08-14-2025 Board MINUTES-draft
	09-2025 CEO Report
	#47 Blue Lot Expansion
	#48 TransSolutions Contract Amendment
	#49 NVE Redundant Power Feed
	#50 Loop Road Art Commission
	#51 HQ CO #2- HQ GMP #3
	#52 HQ CME-CM Services
	#53 HQ RSH Amendment #4
	#54 Griffin Contract Extension
	#55 CEO Goals
	#55 CEO Goals-EX A
	#55 CEO Goals-EX B
	09-14-2023 #65 CEO Goals_ExB1-Employment Contract
	09-14-2023 #65 CEO Goals_ExB2-Contract Extension




